

# NSP Network Services Platform Release 24.4

# **Device Management Guide**

3HE-20005-AAAA-TQZZA Issue 1 April 2024

© 2024 Nokia. Use subject to Terms available at: www.nokia.com/terms

#### Legal notice

Nokia is committed to diversity and inclusion. We are continuously reviewing our customer documentation and consulting with standards bodies to ensure that terminology is inclusive and aligned with the industry. Our future customer documentation will be updated accordingly.

This document includes Nokia proprietary and confidential information, which may not be distributed or disclosed to any third parties without the prior written consent of Nokia.

This document is intended for use by Nokia's customers ("You"/"Your") in connection with a product purchased or licensed from any company within Nokia Group of Companies. Use this document as agreed. You agree to notify Nokia of any errors you may find in this document; however, should you elect to use this document for any purpose(s) for which it is not intended, You understand and warrant that any determinations You may make or actions You may take will be based upon Your independent judgment and analysis of the content of this document.

Nokia reserves the right to make changes to this document without notice. At all times, the controlling version is the one available on Nokia's site.

No part of this document may be modified.

NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY WARRANTY OF AVAILABILITY, ACCURACY, RELIABILITY, TITLE, NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, IS MADE IN RELATION TO THE CONTENT OF THIS DOCUMENT. IN NO EVENT WILL NOKIA BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO SPECIAL, DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL OR ANY LOSSES, SUCH AS BUT NOT LIMITED TO LOSS OF PROFIT, REVENUE, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR DATA THAT MAY ARISE FROM THE USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OR THE INFORMATION IN IT, EVEN IN THE CASE OF ERRORS IN OR OMISSIONS FROM THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENT.

Copyright and trademark: Nokia is a registered trademark of Nokia Corporation. Other product names mentioned in this document may be trademarks of their respective owners.

© 2024 Nokia.

# Contents

Ab	bout this document			
Pa	art I: Device management essentials13			
1	Device	support in NSP	15	
	1.1	How does NSP support devices?	15	
	1.2	What devices are supported by NSP?	15	
	1.3	What is an adaptor?	16	
	1.4	Where can I find more information about adaptors?	16	
	1.5	How does NSP support device telemetry?	17	
	1.6	How do I configure and manage devices?	17	
	1.7	How do I view adaptor information for an NE?	20	
	1.8	What is NE resynchronization?	21	
	1.9	What is a device management state?	21	
2	Device	discovery	23	
	Discov	vering devices using NSP	23	
	2.1	How does device discovery work?	23	
	2.2	What is a unified discovery rule?	24	
	2.3	What is a classic discovery rule?	24	
	2.4	What are discovery protocols and policies?	25	
	2.5	What is flexible discovery for MDM devices?	26	
	2.6	What is a domain controller?	27	
	Proced	lures for device discovery	28	
	2.7	How do I create a classic mediation policy?	<b>28</b>	
	2.8	How do I create a mediation policy for MDM?	<b>29</b>	
	2.9	How do I edit or delete a mediation policy?	30	
	2.10	How do I create a classic reachability policy?	31	
	2.11	How do I create a reachability policy for MDM ?	32	
	2.12	How do I edit or delete a reachability policy?	32	
	2.13	How do I create a classic discovery rule?	33	
	2.14	How do I discover devices?	34	
	2.15	How do I edit or delete a discovery rule?	36	
	2.16	How do I stitch a classic device to a unified discovery rule?	37	
	2.17	How do I discover a domain controller?	38	
	2.18	How do I discover the NEs managed by a domain controller?	39	

	2.19	How do I edit or delete a domain controller?	40
3	NE ma	intenance	43
	NE bac	ckup and restore	43
	3.1	How do I back up an NE?	43
	3.2	How do I view backup files for an NE?	44
	3.3	How do I compare two backup files for an NE?	44
	3.4	How do I restore an NE from a backup?	45
Par	t II: Adv	vanced device management	47
4	Large-	scale operations	49
	Overvi	ew	49
	4.1	Operations	49
	4.2	Operation views	51
	4.3	Operation types provided by NSP	52
	Proced	lures	54
	4.4	How do I change the life cycle state of an operation type?	54
	4.5	How do I start or schedule a new operation?	54
	4.6	How do I start or schedule a saved operation?	56
	4.7	How do I view or manage scheduled operations?	57
	4.8	How do I view current operations and executions?	57
	4.9	How do I start, stop, or pause an operation?	<b>58</b>
	4.10	How do I view the details of completed operations?	<b>58</b>
	4.11	How do I view a history of operations performed on an NE?	59
	4.12	How do I automate the cleanup of completed operations?	59
	4.13	How do I view reports generated by an operation?	60
	4.14	How do I retry an execution within a phase?	61
	4.15	How do I terminate an execution in progress?	<b>62</b>
	4.16	How do I retry a failed operation?	<b>62</b>
	4.17	How do I perform a rollback on a target in an operation?	<mark>63</mark>
	Troubl	eshooting	65
	4.18	Operation troubleshooting	65
5	NE sof	tware upgrades using NSP	67
	NE sof	tware upgrades using NSP	67
	5.1	Upgrade operation requirements	67
	5.2	Process for NE upgrade	<mark>68</mark>
	5.3	How do I import an NE software image?	<b>69</b>

	5.4	How do I upgrade software on an NE?	70
6	Zero	Fouch Provisioning	75
	6.1	What is Zero Touch Provisioning?	75
	6.2	How do I configure Zero Touch Provisioning?	77
	6.3	Can I change ZTP parameters from NSP?	81
Pa	rt III: D	evice configuration	83
7	Devic	e object configuration	85
	Viewi	ng NE parameters	85
	7.1	How do I see what is configured on an NE?	85
	Mode	I Driven Configurator	87
	7.2	What tools can I use to configure NEs in NSP?	87
	7.3	How do I open a device for configuration?	88
	7.4	How do I configure device objects?	89
8	Netwo	ork configuration	91
	Temp	late-based configuration deployment	91
	8.1	What is device configuration in NSP?	91
	8.2	How does configuration deployment work?	92
	Confi	guration process	94
	8.3	ICM process	94
	Confi	guration intent types	98
	8.4	What is a configuration intent type?	98
	8.5	How do I import a configuration intent type?	101
	Confi	guration templates	102
	8.6	What is a configuration template?	102
	8.7	What is the difference between deploying a template and associating a template?	105
	8.8	How do I create a configuration template?	106
	8.9	How do I update a template to apply intent type schema form changes?	107
	8.10	What is migration?	107
	8.11	How do I migrate a deployment to another template?	109
	8.12	How do I deploy or associate a template to the network?	110
	8.13	How do I associate a logical template to the network?	110
	8.14	How do I associate a physical template to the network?	111
	8.15	How do I retry a failed association?	112
	8.16	How do I change the life cycle status of a template?	112
	8.17	How do I edit a template?	113

	8.18	How do I audit or align configurations?	113
	Config	juration deployments	115
	8.19	How do I create a deployment?	115
	8.20	How do I create a logical configuration deployment?	115
	8.21	How do I create a physical configuration deployment?	116
	8.22	How do I edit a deployment?	118
	8.23	How do I bulk edit multiple deployments?	119
	8.24	How do I deploy a saved deployment?	121
	8.25	How do I retry a failed deployment?	121
	8.26	How do I distribute a logical configuration deployment?	122
	8.27	How do I distribute a physical configuration deployment?	123
	8.28	How do I delete a deployment?	124
	8.29	How do I remove a deployment?	
	8.30	How do I audit or align a deployment?	
	8.31	How do I audit or align configurations for an NE?	126
Pa	rt IV: De	evice management use cases	129
9	Use ca	ases	131
	9.1	Discovery of a 7750 SR device in NSP	131
	9.2	NFM-P and NSP comparison: Port Configuration	138
	9.3	NFM-P and NSP comparison: QoS	141
	9.4	NFM-P and NSP comparison: LAG Configuration	

# List of tables

Table 8-1	Results of bulk edit based on handling of added table values	120
-----------	--	-----

# List of figures

Figure 6-1	Zero Touch Provisioning process	77	7
------------	---------------------------------	----	---

# About this document

### Purpose

The *Device Management Guide* provides information about device management using NSP to operators and administrators by describing usage and features. For information about device management using NFM-P, see the *NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide*.

### Scope

The guide covers the full set of features for device management using NSP. Device management using NFM-P (classic management) is documented by the *NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide*.

Some feature sets require the purchase and configuration of additional feature packages. See the *NSP System Architecture Guide* for more information about feature packages and installation options.

Device Management functions are available for OSS using programmable APIs. For general information about developer support, see the API documentation page on the Network Developer Portal.

For specific documentation about REST APIs for device management, including management of NEs behind a controller, click on API Reference in the Device Administrator row.

### Safety information

For your safety, this document contains safety statements. Safety statements are given at points where risks of damage to personnel, equipment, and operation may exist. Failure to follow the directions in a safety statement may result in serious consequences.

### **Document support**

Customer documentation and product support URLs:

- Documentation Center
- Technical support

### How to comment

Please send your feedback to documentation.feedback@nokia.com.

# Part I: Device management essentials

## Overview

### Purpose

Provides information about managing NEs using NSP.

### Contents

Chapter 1, Device support in NSP	15
Chapter 2, Device discovery	23
Chapter 3, NE maintenance	43

# 1 Device support in NSP

# 1.1 How does NSP support devices?

### 1.1.1 Device support overview

NSP supports two types of device management: classic and model-driven.

### **Classic management**

Classic management is provided by the optionally deployable NSP component, NFM-P. Classic devices are discovered in the NSP and managed by the NFM-P in the background. To ensure alignment between NSP and NFM-P, Nokia recommends that all management operations be performed in the NSP.

For information about NFM-P devices, classic discovery, management, all other information about using NFM-P, see the NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide.

### Model-driven management (MDM)

The NSP supports model-driven management of Nokia and multivendor devices. Device support is provided by adaptors installed in the NSP.

MDM provides mediation between certain NSP functions and Nokia or third-party NEs.

### 1.2 What devices are supported by NSP?

### 1.2.1 Supported devices

Device support varies by management type.

#### **Classic management**

See the NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide for information about supported NE families.

By default, for most core-network device types, the NFM-P supports the current software release and a limited number of immediately preceding major releases. For detailed information about NFM-P device support, see the *NSP NFM-P Network Element Compatibility Guide*.

#### Model-driven management

Production adaptors are available for the following Nokia device types:

- SR OS
- SR Linux OS
- MAG-c
- AirFrame
- T-API
- T-BTS

#### CBIS

Nokia-provided adaptors for various NEs, including all Nokia device types listed above, are available for download from the Nokia support software download site.



**Note:** If the Management Operational Mode on the device is set to mixed, the device is discovered and managed as a model driven NE.

## 1.3 What is an adaptor?

### 1.3.1 Adaptor artifacts

Adaptors provide mapping between devices and the NSP. All MDM functions in NSP require adaptor files to be installed by an NSP administrator. In general, anything you want to do with an MDM -managed device, including discovery, requires an adaptor.



**Note:** Some NSP functions, such as telemetry, require other artifacts, such as mapping files, to be installed in addition to adaptors.

Commercially available adaptors are released in adaptor suites (zip files) and updated on a regular basis, outside the NSP release cycle. Adaptors and adaptor documentation are available from **Electronic Delivery**, **Downloads** on the Nokia NSP software download site.

You can engage Nokia to build adaptors for specific NEs and feature sets. Development versions of these customer-specific adaptors are shared with the customer through the Network Developer Portal.. Once they have passed user-acceptance testing, final versions are delivered on the software download site of the Support Portal in a customer-restricted folder hierarchy: Network Services Platform/Adaptors/Customer-specific/<customername>.

Navigate through the hierarchy:

- For Nokia device adaptors, select the NSP release, then the NE family, for example, SR\_OS, to see the list of available adaptor suites and documentation.
- · For custom multi-vendor adaptors, access your adaptor folder

Nokia recommends that you install all adaptor files in any given suite.

### 1.3.2 SDK

You can use an SDK to build your own adaptors or customize reference adaptors for your requirements; see the *NSP Network Automation Guide*.

## 1.4 Where can I find more information about adaptors?

### 1.4.1 Artifact guides for adaptor suites

Device artifact bundles and documentation are available from the Nokia NSP software download site.

Artifact guides are provided with the adaptors for each NE family and NSP release. For example, the Nokia SR OS Artifact Guide for Release 23.11 lists and describes the adaptor suites delivered to support management of Nokia SR OS devices by NSP Release 23.11 over model-driven

interfaces. The artifact guides also contain information about the NSP functionality supported by the adaptors, NE compatibility with those NSP functions, NE commissioning information and a view of active issues.

### 1.4.2 Adaptors in the NSP documentation

See the NSP System Architecture Guide for general information about MDM.

For information about installing and managing adaptors, mapping files, and NE model definition files, see the MDM administration section in the *NSP System Administrator Guide*.

To see which adaptors are installed on your NSP, see "How do I install adaptor artifacts that are not supported in the Artifacts view?" in the NSP System Administrator Guide for script instructions.

## 1.5 How does NSP support device telemetry?

### 1.5.1 Telemetry support

SNMP telemetry for model driven devices is provided by MDM.

NSP supports CN telemetry (cloud native telemetry) using gNMI for model-driven and classic devices. To enable CN telemetry, a gRPC mediation policy must be present on the discovery rule associated with the device.

For more information about telemetry, see the NSP Device Collection and Analysis Guide.

### 1.6 How do I configure and manage devices?

### 1.6.1 Device configuration overview

The following is a generic workflow of the high-level tasks that are typically used to configure and manage supported devices using the NSP. As appropriate, review the workflow associated with each task for detailed instructions.

This workflow is common to all MDM devices but not all tasks apply to all device types.

See the NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide for the high-level process for classic management.

### 1.6.2 Stages

### **Prerequisite tasks**

1

Plan your deployment for managing devices by determining the following:

- the number of NEs you need to manage, the redundancy requirements and the hardware required for the system
- · the management network latency and management network bandwidth requirements
- · the naming conventions for objects that you create

See the NSP Planning Guide for the full list of deployment considerations.

#### 2 —

Integrate the NSP with other EMS, as required.

3

Review the adaptor artifact guides for release-specific information about the compatibility of NSP functions with the adaptors.

Install the physical device as per the appropriate device-specific hardware user documentation.

5

4

Install the required NE adaptors on the NSP; see "How do I install adaptor artifacts that are not supported in the Artifacts view?" in the NSP System Administrator Guide.

6 —

Download and install any additional required artifacts, such as intent types, alarm rules, and mapping files. See "How do I install an artifact bundle?" in the *NSP Network Automation Guide*.

7

If you will be managing classic devices, verify that the NFM-P is running and fully operational.

### **Review GUI basics for managing devices**

8

Familiarize yourself with GUI operations for configuring and managing devices such as navigating the GUI, performing searches, and customizing the GUI user preferences; see "NSP UI overview" in the *NSP User Guide*.

9

Launch the on-product user documentation to access the customer documentation and search tools.

10 \_\_\_\_\_

Familiarize yourself with available OSS functions using programmable APIs; see the API documentation page on the Network Developer Portal.

### Perform account and security tasks

11 \_\_\_\_\_

Set up all required user accounts and user groups with the required scope of command roles, span of control permissions, and the ongoing monitoring and management of those accounts. See "NSP user security" in the *NSP System Administrator Guide* for more information.

#### 12 -

For greater security, enable two-way client authentication using mTLS between the NSP and the managed NEs; perform "How do I enable mTLS on the NSP mediation interface?" in the *NSP System Administrator Guide*.

**Note:** For information about generating the required TLS root CA and client certificates, see the device documentation.

#### 13 -

Verify that a gRPC certificate has been implemented in the NSP; see "How do I enable TLS for telemetry and gNMI on\_change support?" in the *NSP System Administrator Guide*.

### Prepare network devices for NSP management

#### 14 -

Configure the following on the device:

- · device identification—NE name used for NSP filtering, configuration and monitoring
- management interface protocol configuration—authentication and communication parameters for device management interface

See the device and adaptor artifact guides for information.

#### 15 -

Discover the device and verify the device management; see 2.14 "How do I discover devices?" (p. 34).

### Configure and manage the discovered device

#### 16 -

Update parameters on a model-driven NE configuration or state schema tree; see 7.4 "How do I configure device objects?" (p. 89).

#### 17 –

Deploy NE configuration templates to one or more devices; see 8.19 "How do I create a deployment?" (p. 115).

#### Create services over devices

#### 18 -

Configure services as required using service templates; see the *NSP Service Management Guide*.

### Monitor, maintain, and troubleshoot devices

19 -

Configure alarm settings, and monitor incoming alarms to check the type and characteristics of the alarms, and to resolve the network problems or physical equipment failures identified by the alarms; see the *NSP Network and Service Assurance Guide*.

20 -

Configure OAM testing to troubleshoot network problems and for SLA verification; see "OAM tests" in the *NSP Data Collection and Analysis Guide*.

21 -

Familiarize yourself with the Network Map and Health dashboard; see "Monitoring network health" in the NSP Network and Service Assurance Guide .

22 -

Collect statistics to monitor network and service performance, compile equipment usage and billing data, and ensure SLA compliance; see the *NSP Data Collection and Analysis Guide*.

Configure charts and Analytics reports as needed; see the *NSP Data Collection and Analysis Guide* and the *Analytics Report Catalog*.

23 -

Perform device maintenance functions, as required, for example:

- configuration backups and restores; see 3.1 "How do I back up an NE?" (p. 43) and 3.4 "How do I restore an NE from a backup?" (p. 45)
- software upgrades; see Chapter 5, "NE software upgrades using NSP"

#### 24 -

Identify and resolve performance issues in the network or on a system as required. See "Troubleshooting network objects" in the *NSP Network and Service Assurance Guide* for a starting point.

### **1.7** How do I view adaptor information for an NE?

### 1.7.1 Adaptors list

The adaptors list for a managed NE provides information about the installed adaptors relevant to the selected NE.

Adaptors are sorted by purpose: the Used For column in the adaptors view shows the NSP function the adaptor is designed to support. You can filter the list by use, adaptor name, or adaptor version as needed.

Select an NE from the list in **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements** and click (Table row actions), **View applicable adaptors**.

The Applicable Adaptors list is displayed.

### 1.7.2 Adaptor compatibility notes

- Adaptors from a previous NSP release can be used, but they do not provide access to any features added to the NSP in subsequent NSP releases.
- The same adaptor may work for more than one NE type or version. This means that you may see the same adaptor file name in NSP for two NEs that have different software releases or chassis types.
- The adaptor filename may refer to an earlier NE version than your NE is running. This means that the adaptor was created for the earlier version and is still applicable.

### 1.8 What is NE resynchronization?

### 1.8.1 NE resynchronization

The Manage, Resync option in the Table row actions menu performs a reachability check and verifies the information displayed in the Summary panel, including the software version, upgrade status, and backup status. The resync operation is supported for classic devices.

For NEs managed by a domain controller, NSP displays the reachability state of the NEs from the point of view of the controller. If the controller itself is not reachable, the NEs are not reachable.

**Note:** The NSP resync operation reads all data from the device, not only recently changed data. Therefore the resync operation in NSP may take longer than a force resync in NFM-P.

The Summary panel displays the resync status, last resync time, and resync duration.

The Resync status value is one of the following:

- Done—a resynchronization has successfully completed
- Failed—a resynchronization attempt has failed

If the NE is unreachable, the value in the Reachability column is updated to Unreachable and the icon color changes to red.

- · In Progress—a resynchronization is in progress
- Not Attempted—no resynchronization has been requested
- Requested—the resynchronization request is queued for processing.

If an operator has not performed a manual resync, the Last Manual Resync time will display the time the initial synchronization was completed after discovery.

### 1.9 What is a device management state?

### 1.9.1 Management state

The management state parameter describes whether a discovered device is included in the managed network. Available actions in the Manage menu depend on the NE mode, management state, and resync status.

### 1.9.2 Unmanaging devices

You can unmanage a classic device from the NSP. Unmanaging excludes the device from the managed network. The unmanage function may be used for unusual conditions such as when the NSP requires a complete refresh of device data because of data corruption, or when NEs are decommissioned.

When a device is unmanaged, all current and historical management data is removed, for example, physical links, statistics, and backup files. If the device is managed again, the data is not restored.

If the IP address of this NE is not removed from the associated discovery rule, this NE will be remanaged in the next scanning interval.

If a device is unmanaged in the NFM-P, it is not removed from the NSP.

To unmanage or re-manage a classic device, select the device in the **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements** view. Click (Table row actions), **Manage**, **Unmanage** or **Manage**.

**Note:** If you need to unmanage and re-manage an NE with a telemetry subscription configured, a delay may be required to ensure the telemetry subscription will be automatically reinstated. To ensure the telemetry subscription is created again, Nokia recommends waiting at least 15 minutes between unmanaging and re-managing the NE.

### **1.9.3 Deleting devices**

Using the NSP to delete a device completely removes the device from the managed network. All management data is lost.

The next time the discovery rule scans the network, it discovers and manages the device again, or you can run the discovery rule manually.

### 1.9.4 Changing management states

Available actions in the Manage menu depend on the NE mode and management state. If a management operation is in progress, actions may not be available.

Management State	NE Mode	Available actions in the Manage menu
Managed, Unmanage Failed	Classic	Resync, Unmanage, Delete
Not Managed	Classic	Manage, Delete
Unmanage Requested, Delete Requested, Unknown	Classic	No actions
Not supported	MD	Resync, Delete

The following table shows available options.

#### **Device discovery** 2

# Discovering devices using NSP

#### 2.1 How does device discovery work?

### 2.1.1 Functional description

The NSP discovers devices using user-specified protocols and stores the device properties in the database. To discover one or more devices in your network, you create a discovery rule and then scan the network for devices according to the IP address ranges specified in the discovery rule.

A discovery rule contains lists of IP addresses or subnets are to be included in, or excluded from, the discovery process. For example, you can configure one subnet under included IP addresses for discovery, and another under excluded IP addresses. This allows you to provide a focused list of IP addresses for faster discovery scanning.

A discovery rule includes a network scan interval, for example, 60 min. This means that, if the discovery rule is active, NSP scans the network every 60 min to look for devices that match the information specified in the discovery rule and make them available for management by the NSP.

Discovery checks are also used to determine if an NE has been rebooted or if the software version has been upgraded. When a software upgrade is complete, the NE reboots and raises a reboot alarm. The reboot alarm triggers an NE-specific discovery scan. When the discovery scan detects a version change, the NE information is updated.

The management IP address is used to discover a device. The IP address provided for discovery must be reachable by the NSP.

### Device discovery using IPv6

NSP supports the discovery of devices that use IPv6 IP addresses. In order for the NSP to discover and manage a device that uses IPv6, the device must have an IPv6 address on the management port, and the NSP cluster must be configured for IPv6 mediation; see "Multi-interface configuration" in the NSP Installation and Upgrade Guide.



**i** Note: IPv4 and IPv6 addresses must be discovered using different discovery rules.

## 2.1.2 Synching from NFM-P

Discovery rules, policies, and managed devices are synched from NFM-P to NSP and available in the Device Discovery or Device Management views. Devices in an unmanaged state are not automatically synched.



Important! To use telemetry and reporting with a synched NE, the classic discovery rule used to discover the device must be stitched to a unified discovery rule with gRPC mediation configured. This is a one-time manual process; see 2.16 "How do I stitch a classic device to a unified discovery rule?" (p. 37).

# 2.2 What is a unified discovery rule?

### 2.2.1 Unified discovery rules

A unified discovery rule can be used to discover model-driven and classic devices in specified IP address ranges, so that you can manage them in NSP.

The discovery rule provides the protocols and policies required to discover model-driven devices.

To use the unified discovery rule to discover classic devices, you must associate a classic discovery rule. The classic discovery rule contains the mediation and reachability policy information required to discover and manage the classic devices in the specified IP address ranges.

When the unified discovery rule scans the network, it performs discovery using both MDM and classic:

- For host addresses (/32), NSP first tries to discover the devices in the IP address ranges using MDM. If MDM discovery fails, the IP addresses are pushed to NFM-P for classic discovery.
- For subnet discovery, the subnet IP address will be sent to both NFM-P and NSP MDM for NE discovery at the same time.

**i** Note: NSP does not support IP address overlap in discovery rules: an IP address cannot be included in more than one discovery rule, and a host IP address cannot be included in a discovery rule if the rule includes a subnet the host IP address is in.

**i** Note: A unified discovery rule must include at least one MDM mediation policy and at least one MDM reachability policy, regardless of whether any model driven devices are in the specified IP ranges.

Select a discovery rule in the **Device Discovery**, **Unified Discovery Rules** view to see rule components, discovered NEs and any errors that occurred during discovery.



**Note:** Nokia AIM devices serve as controllers for MAG-c-a2 appliances. You can discover an AIM using a unified discovery rule.

# 2.3 What is a classic discovery rule?

### 2.3.1 Classic discovery rules

A classic discovery rule contains the IP management, mediation and reachability information required to discover and manage classic devices. The rule includes the following:

- IP management protocol: IPv4 or IPv6
- · mediation policies: read access, write access, trap access, and security access
- · reachability policies: in band management, out of band management, CPM reachability

If discovery rules are present in the NFM-P, they are synched to the NSP and appear in the **Device Discovery**, **Classic Discovery Rules** view. For a classic discovery rule to be used to discover devices in NSP, it must be used by a unified discovery rule. Click on a discovery rule to see the unified discovery rule in the Summary panel.

### Classic discovery rule parameters not currently supported in NSP

Some parameters that appear in discovery rules in the NFM-P are not currently supported in NSP.

Contact Nokia for support with any of the following:

- OLC State and Revert OLC State
- Scan Interval
- Group NE
- Discovery protocol other than SNMP, for example, TL1, NWI3 or NE3S
- External EMS
- Auto Discovery Rule Elements ACL

- MIB Statistics Policy
- Discovered Routers to Span(s)
- Backup Policy
- NE Self Config Policies
- EM Systems
- Post Discovery Action

### 2.4 What are discovery protocols and policies?

### 2.4.1 Protocols and policies

A unified discovery rule defines up to four protocols for MDM to use to discover the device. NSP scans the specified IP address ranges using each protocol in the order defined in the discovery rule. For example, you can use the same discovery rule to discover devices using both SNMP and CLI by selecting SNMP as the first discovery protocol and CLI as the second.

A unified discovery rule must include at least one reachability policy, and at least one mediation policy for each network communication protocol that is used to manage the NE.

You must create mediation policies for all required protocols before discovery, regardless of which protocols are used to discover the devices.

After MDM discovery is completed, NSP discovers classic devices in the specified IP address ranges as applicable, using the classic discovery rule associated with the unified discovery rule.

Adding a domain controller also requires mediation and reachability policies. The protocols for discovery of a controller are often different from those used to discover NEs.

### 2.4.2 Mediation policies

To discover and manage devices in your network, you must create one or more mediation policies to setup the security and communication infrastructure between the NSP and each device.

A mediation policy defines how the NSP uses a communication type to interact with an NE. The policy specifies the communication settings, and the credentials for security functions. The order in which the policies are added to the discovery rule specifies the order in which they should be used to attempt to reach the NE for discovery.

#### Model driven mediation policies

If the Classic Mediation parameter in a mediation policy is set to No, the mediation policy is for model-driven mediation. Each MDM policy provides mediation information for one protocol, for example, NETCONF.

If a protocol should be used only for NE management and never for discovery, you can set the Use for Discovery parameter to false.

The protocols required to manage an NE using MDM are listed in the artifact guide for the NE family, along with any applicable recommendations about the order in which the protocols should be used.

Select a policy in the **Device Discovery**, **Mediation Policies** view to see policy components, including the discovery rules, controllers, and NEs, if available, that use the mediation policy. If a mediation policy is in use, it cannot be deleted.

### **Classic mediation policies**

If the Classic Mediation parameter in a mediation policy is set to Yes, the mediation policy is for mediation with classic devices. A classic mediation policy can include mediation information for SNMP, CLI, and/or file transfer.

### Mediation policies for controller discovery

Certain model-driven mediation protocols can be used for discovery of domain controllers only.

### 2.4.3 Reachability policies

A reachability policy defines a way for the NSP to perform a reachability check. The policy specifies the communication type to be used to reach the NE, for example SNMP, how often to attempt to reach the NE, and how long to wait for a response.

A reachability check is a scheduled check that the NSP initiates via the configured protocol (SNMP or Ping ICMP echo request). If the NE responds, it is reachable from the NSP system. If the device becomes unreachable, an alarm is raised.

### 2.4.4 Policy synching from NFM-P

If mediation and reachability policies are present in the NFM-P, they are synched to the NSP and appear in the **Device Discovery**, **Mediation Policies** and **Device Discovery**, **Reachability Policies** views.

## 2.5 What is flexible discovery for MDM devices?

### 2.5.1 NE compatibility and flexible discovery

Some discovery adaptors allow for NE custom compatibility. With NE compatibility, you can discover and manage an NE without needing the adaptor for the NE version. A default compatibility rule is defined in the discovery adaptor. You can configure custom compatibility rules to override the default as needed.

Discovered NE version	Adaptors and compatibility rules in place	Expected result
12.1 R1	No 12.x adaptors installed	NE is not certified and cannot be discovered or managed.

The following example uses the fictitious NE 9999 ABC, release 12.x:

Discovered NE version	Adaptors and compatibility rules in place	Expected result
12.1 R1	12.1 adaptors installed with explicit support for 12.1.R1 defined in the metadata	NE is certified, that is, it can be discovered and managed without use of a compatibility rule.
12.1.R2	12.1 adaptors installed but 12.1.R2 is not defined explicitly in the metadata	<ul> <li>If the adaptors have a default compatibility rule defined, NE is compatible and can be discovered or managed at the level of 12.1.R1.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>If the adaptors do not have a default compatibility rule defined, NE is not compatible and cannot be managed.</li> </ul>
12.2.R1	12.1 adaptors installed No adaptors available for 12.2 Custom compatibility rule is in place listing 12.1.R1 as the compatible version for 12.2.R1	NE is compatible, that is, it is discovered and managed according to a compatibility rule. The NE will be managed at the 12.1.R1 level.

NE compatibility is managed using RESTCONF APIs. For information about managing compatibility; see the Device Administration and Mediation RESTCONF APIs documentation on the Network Developer Portal.

For more details about the applicability and/or any restrictions of the NE compatibility feature to specific devices, consult the NSP adaptor artifact guides for those devices.

# 2.6 What is a domain controller?

### 2.6.1 Domain controllers

A domain controller is an external element manager that is managing NEs. By adding the controller to your NSP, you can view and manage the controller's NEs in your NSP.

In the current release, the only supported type of domain controller is another NSP.

## Procedures for device discovery

## 2.7 How do I create a classic mediation policy?

### 2.7.1 Purpose

Use this procedure to set up security and communication infrastructure between the NSP and classic devices in your network. The policy, along with other components of a unified discovery rule, will be used to discover and manage the devices in NSP.

### 2.7.2 Steps

```
1 —
```

### Open Device Discovery, Mediation Policies.

The system displays the list of configured mediation policies.

2 —

### Click + MEDIATION POLICY.

3 —

In the form that opens, click the **Classic Mediation** check box.

The form displays panel headers that include the word Classic, for example, Classic SNMP.

4

Configure the required parameters. Parameters vary based on the mediation type.

Parameter	Description
Policy Name	User-provided name for the policy
Classic Policy ID	Enter a policy ID or click the <b>Auto assign classic policy ID</b> check box.
Classic SNMP	Select the security model and configure the parameters.
Classic CLI	Select the communication protocol and configure the parameters.
Classic FTP	Select the file transfer type and configure the parameters.

5

Click **CREATE**. The mediation policy is added to the list.

END OF STEPS -

# 2.8 How do I create a mediation policy for MDM?

### 2.8.1 Purpose

Use this procedure to configure communication with model-driven devices or domain controllers, using a selected protocol.

The policy consists of a network communication profile, which contains information such as port number and timeouts, and a network user, which is a user name and password. You can associate users or communication profiles with multiple policies.

For example, if two different network users (that is, two sets of credentials) might be used to log in to the same port using CLI over Telnet, create a policy of type CLI for each user. When you create the second policy, associate the communication profile you created for the first policy. This applies the same CLI parameters to the policy for the other user.

### 2.8.2 Steps

#### 1 –

### Open Device Discovery, Mediation Policies.

The system displays the list of configured mediation policies.

2 —

Click + MEDIATION POLICY.

3 –

In the form that opens, leave the **Classic Mediation** check box unchecked.

#### 4

Configure the general parameters.

Parameter	Description
Policy type	Specifies the communication type the mediation policy is for, for example, SNMPV3. <b>Note:</b> For gNMI-based discovery, select the gRPC mediation policy type.
Policy name	The name of the mediation policy
Description	User-provided description of the policy
Use For Discovery	Disable this parameter if the communication type is not to be used to discover the NE, for example, if the communication type is for telemetry collection only. This parameter does not appear if the policy type is used for controller discovery only, that is, the policy cannot be used to discover devices.

5 –

Configure the communication parameters.

6

Click **CREATE**. The mediation policy is automatically assigned a policy ID and is added to the list.

END OF STEPS -

# 2.9 How do I edit or delete a mediation policy?

### 2.9.1 Purpose



If a mediation policy is edited when it is in use by a discovery rule, communication with devices may be affected.

Verify that the updated protocol credentials match the configuration on the NE.

The default classic mediation policy can be edited but cannot be deleted.

### 2.9.2 Steps

Open Device Discovery, Mediation Policies.

The system displays the list of configured mediation policies.

2 –

1 -

To edit a mediation policy:

- 1. Choose a policy and click (Table row actions), Edit.
- 2. Configure the parameters and click **UPDATE**.
- 3

To delete a mediation policy, choose a policy and click (Table row actions), **Delete**, and confirm.

A policy cannot be deleted if it is in use by a discovery rule.

END OF STEPS

# 2.10 How do I create a classic reachability policy?

### 2.10.1 Purpose

Use this procedure to create a management ping policy to specify how the NSP checks the connection to device management IP addresses on classic devices.



**Note:** You must enable scheduling for a ping policy to be active. When scheduling is not enabled, and an assigned managed device is not reachable, management connection alarms may not be raised.

During creation of a discovery rule, reachability policies are assigned for in-band management, out of band management, and CPM. address reachability.

### 2.10.2 Steps

# 1 Open Device Discovery, Reachability Policies.

The system displays the list of configured reachability policies.

2

### Click + REACHABILITY POLICY.

3

In the form that opens, click the **Classic Reachability** check box.

4

Configure the required parameters.

Parameter	Description
Policy Name	The name of the Reachability policy
Classic Policy ID	Enter a policy ID or click the <b>Auto assign policy ID</b> check box.
Timeout (seconds)	Specifies the length of time, in seconds, to wait for a response after attempting to reach the NE
Schedule enabled	Schedule enabled means the policy is in effect.
Interval	Specifies the length of time, in minutes and seconds, to wait before repeating an attempt to reach the NE

5

Click **CREATE**. The reachability policy is added to the list.

END OF STEPS

## 2.11 How do I create a reachability policy for MDM ?

### 2.11.1 Steps

1

### Open Device Discovery, Reachability Policies.

The system displays the list of configured reachability policies.

Click + REACHABILITY POLICY.

3 –

2 —

In the form that opens, leave the **Classic Reachability** check box unchecked.

4

Configure the required parameters.

Parameter	Description
Policy Name	The name of the reachability policy
Description	User-provided description of the policy
Reachability Type	Specifies the communication type to be used to confirm reachability, for example, ping. The parameters vary based on the reachability type.
Timeout (seconds)	Specifies the length of time, in seconds, to wait for a response after attempting to reach the NE
Interval (minutes)	Specifies the length of time, in minutes, to wait before repeating an attempt to reach the NE
Admin State	Specifies the administrative state for the new policy Up means the policy is in effect.

5

Click **CREATE**. The reachability policy is auto-assigned a policy ID and added to the list.

END OF STEPS

# 2.12 How do I edit or delete a reachability policy?

### 2.12.1 Purpose

Use this procedure to make changes to a reachability policy.

The default policy can be edited but cannot be deleted.

### 2.12.2 Steps

1 -

#### Open Device Discovery, Reachability Policies.

The system displays the list of configured reachability policies.

2 \_\_\_\_\_

To edit a reachability policy:

- 1. Choose a policy and click (Table row actions), Edit.
- 2. Configure the parameters and click **UPDATE**.

3 -

To delete a reachability policy, choose a policy and click (Table row actions), **Delete**, and confirm.

END OF STEPS -

### 2.13 How do I create a classic discovery rule?

### 2.13.1 Purpose

To discover classic devices, NSP requires a classic discovery rule. The classic discovery rule is associated with a unified discovery rule. NSP performs scans of the network to look for devices matching specifications provided in active unified discovery rules. You can also launch a discovery manually.

RESTCONF APIs are also available for device discovery and management; see the Device Administration and Mediation RESTCONF APIs documentation on the Network Developer Portal.

### 2.13.2 Steps

1 —

Open Device Discovery, Classic Discovery Rules.

The system displays the list of configured discovery rules.

2 ——

### Click + CLASSIC DISCOVERY RULE.

3 —

In the form that opens, configure the required parameters.

Parameter	Description
Rule ID	Enter a rule ID or check the <b>Auto assign classic rule</b> ID check box.

Parameter	Description
Description	User-provided description of the discovery rule
Admin State	Specifies the administrative state for the discovery rule
Management Protocol	Choose IPv4 or IPv6
Classic Mediation Policies	<ul> <li>Select a policy for each access type as needed:</li> <li>Click on the mediation policy field.</li> <li>In the form that opens, select a policy and click SELECT.</li> <li>To create a mediation policy, click + NEW; see 2.7 "How do I create a classic mediation policy?" (p. 28).</li> </ul>
Classic Reachability Policies	Select a policy for each reachability type as needed: Click in a reachability type field. In the form that opens, select a policy and click <b>SELECT</b> . To create a reachability policy, click <b>+ NEW</b> ; see 2.10 "How do I create a classic reachability policy?" (p. 31).

4

Click CREATE. The classic discovery rule is added to the list.

5 —

To associate the classic discovery rule with a unified discovery rule and discover devices, see 2.14 "How do I discover devices?" (p. 34).

END OF STEPS

# 2.14 How do I discover devices?

### 2.14.1 Purpose

To discover devices, create a unified discovery rule. NSP performs scans of the network to look for devices matching specifications provided in active discovery rules. You can also launch a discovery manually.

The association of a classic discovery rule provides information for discovery of classic devices. The discovery protocols and policies parameters in the discovery rule provide information for discovery and management of MDM devices. When associating a classic discovery rule from NFM-P to a unified discovery rule, verify that the list of IP addresses in the unified discovery rule matches the list of IP addresses from the NFM-P classic discovery rule.

i

**Note:** At least one MDM mediation policy and at least one MDM reachability policy are mandatory for unified discovery rule creation, regardless of whether the rule will be used to discover model-driven devices.

RESTCONF APIs are also available for device discovery and management; see the Device Administration and Mediation RESTCONF APIs documentation on the Network Developer Portal.

### 2.14.2 Steps

#### Open Device Discovery, Unified Discovery Rules.

The system displays the list of configured discovery rules.

2 –

1 —

### Click + UNIFIED DISCOVERY RULE.

3 —

In the form that opens, configure the required parameters.

Parameter	Description	
General		
Rule name	The name of the discovery rule	
Description	User-provided description of the discovery rule	
Network Scan Interval (minutes)	Specifies the interval, in minutes, at which the network scan repeats	
Admin State	Specifies the administrative state for the discovery rule Up means the policy is in effect.	
Discovery Protocols and Policies		
(First Second Third Fourth) discovery protocol	Specify the protocols to be used to communicate with the NE, in the order in which they should be used to attempt to reach the NE for discovery. Enter all the protocols that will be used for communication, regardless of whether they will be used for discovery.	
Mediation Policies	Select a policy for each protocol:	
	Click on the policy field.	
	<ul> <li>In the form that opens, select a policy and click SELECT.</li> </ul>	
	To create a mediation policy, click <b>+ NEW</b> ; see 2.8 "How do I create a mediation policy for MDM?" (p. 29).	

Parameter	Description	
Reachability Policies	The reachability types required for the selected discovery protocols appear in the Select Reachability Policies panel. Click in a reachability type field. In the form that opens, select a policy and click <b>SELECT</b> . To create a reachability policy, click <b>+ NEW</b> ; see 2.11 "How do I create a reachability policy for MDM ?" (p. 32).	
Associate Classic Discovery Rule	Click in the Classic Discovery Rule field. In the form that opens, select a discovery rule and click <b>SELECT</b> . To create a classic discovery rule, click <b>+ NEW</b> ; see 2.13 "How do I create a classic discovery rule?" (p. 33).	
Discovery IP Ranges		
Included IP Addresses	Click <b>+ ADD</b> to specify an IP address and mask bits to search. Repeat to add additional ranges. Verify that the included IP address ranges include all the MDM and classic devices you need to discover.	
Excluded IP Addresses	Click <b>+ ADD</b> to specify an IP address and mask bits to exclude from discovery. Repeat to add additional ranges.	

#### 4

Click CREATE. The discovery rule is automatically assigned a rule ID and is added to the list.

**5** 

To run a discovery rule click on your discovery rule in the list and click (Table row actions), **Discover**.

6

To view results of a discovery, select the discovery rule and click **Summary** (i) to view the Summary panel. In the panel at the right of the screen, click **Errors** (ii) to see details about any errors that occurred the most recent time the discovery rule was run.

END OF STEPS

## 2.15 How do I edit or delete a discovery rule?

### 2.15.1 Purpose

You can edit a discovery rule to change the admin state or scan interval, add mediation protocols and policies, for example, to add a gRPC mediation policy for telemetry, associate or remove a classic discovery rule, or to change the lists of included or excluded IP ranges.
If a discovery rule is deleted, the discovered NEs are not removed from the NSP. However, the IP ranges for affected devices must be added to a remaining discovery rule to prevent loss of communication.

### 2.15.2 Steps

1

Open Device Discovery, Unified Discovery Rules or Device Discovery, Classic Discovery Rules

2 —

To edit a discovery rule:

- 1. Choose a discovery rule and click (Table row actions), Edit.
- 2. Configure the parameters and click **UPDATE**.
- 3

To delete a discovery rule, choose a rule and click **‡** (Table row actions), **Delete**, and confirm.

END OF STEPS

## 2.16 How do I stitch a classic device to a unified discovery rule?

#### 2.16.1 Purpose

If classic devices are already discovered in the NFM-P (brownfield scenario), they are synchronized to the NSP and appear in the **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements** view. This synchronization does not provide gRPC mediation, which is required for telemetry and reporting.

To enable telemetry and reporting in NSP, the classic devices must be stitched to a unified discovery rule with gRPC mediation.

This is a one-time manual procedure.

**Note:** If statistics collection is set up in both NFM-P and NSP, the telemetry framework may receive the same information twice. The duplication could result in incorrect reports or duplicated TCAs. Disable equivalent MIB based statistics in NFM-P if gRPC telemetry is used.

### 2.16.2 Steps

1 -

Obtain required information about the NE:

- Open Device Management, Managed Network Elements.
- Note the management IP address of the NE.
- Click on the NE to open the Summary panel, and Click on the Discovery Rules pane (
   (2) to find the associated classic discovery rule.

2 –

3

4

6

# Open Device Discovery, Unified Discovery Rules. Select the discovery rule to associate the NE with and click (Table row actions), Edit. In the Edit Discovery Rule form, click in the Classic Discovery Rule field. In the form that opens, select a discovery rule and click SELECT. 5 – Verify that the IP address of the NE is in one of the included IP ranges. If needed, click **+ ADD** to specify an IP address and mask bits. Click UPDATE. The discovery rule is updated to include the NE. The next time the discovery rule is run, the gRPC mediation information provided by the discovery rule is applied to the NE.

END OF STEPS -

#### How do I discover a domain controller? 2.17

### 2.17.1 Steps

#### 1 -

#### Open Device Discovery, Domain Controllers.

The system displays the list of configured domain controllers.

#### 2 —

#### Click + CONTROLLER.

#### 3

In the form that opens, configure the required parameters.

Parameter	Description
General	
Name	The name of the controller
Туре	NSP is the only type of domain controller currently supported.
Version	Specifies the NSP release the external NSP is running.

Parameter	Description
Primary IP Address	Specifies the primary IP address of the controller.
Standby IP Address	Enter the standby IP address, if applicable.
Policies	
Mediation Policies	Policies that are mandatory for controller discovery are indicated with an asterisk (*).
	Click on the policy field.
	<ul> <li>In the form that opens, select a policy and click SELECT.</li> <li>To create a mediation policy, click + NEW; see 2.8 "How do I create a mediation policy for MDM?" (p. 29).</li> </ul>
Reachability Policies	Policies that are mandatory for controller discovery are indicated with an asterisk (*). The reachability types required for the selected discovery protocols appear in the Select Reachability Policies panel. Click in a reachability type field. In the form that opens, select a policy and click <b>SELECT</b> . To create a reachability policy, click <b>+ NEW</b> ; see 2.11 "How do I create a reachability policy for MDM ?" (p. 32).

#### 4

Click **CREATE**. The domain controller is added to the list.

END OF STEPS -

## 2.18 How do I discover the NEs managed by a domain controller?

### 2.18.1 Steps

1 \_\_\_\_\_

#### Open Device Discovery, Domain Controllers.

The system displays the list of configured domain controllers.

2 –

Verify the reachability of the controller whose devices you want to discover. The controller must be reachable for its devices to be discovered.

3 -

Choose a controller and click (Table row actions), **Discover NEs**.

In the form that opens, enter the NE IDs of the NEs managed by the controller:

- 1. Click + ADD
- 2. Enter an NE ID. If you will be entering more NE IDs, click the Create another check box.
- 3. When you have entered your last NE ID, disable the check box and click ADD.
- 5 —

4

Click **DISCOVER & CLOSE** to launch the discovery and remain in the **Device Discovery**, **Domain Controllers** view, or **DISCOVER & VIEW** to launch discovery and switch to the **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements** view.

6

To view results of a discovery, select the controller and click **Summary** () to view the Summary panel. In the panel at the right of the screen, the number of NEs discovered is displayed.

Click OPEN to view the NEs in the Device Management, Managed Network Elements view.

END OF STEPS

### 2.19 How do I edit or delete a domain controller?

#### 2.19.1 Purpose

You can edit a domain controller to change the mediation policies.

A controller cannot be deleted while discovered NEs managed by the controller are managed in the NSP.

#### 2.19.2 Steps

1 –

Open Device Discovery, Domain Controllers

2 –

To edit a domain controller:

- 1. Choose a controller and click (Table row actions), Edit.
- 2. Configure the parameters and click UPDATE.
- 3 —

To delete a domain controller:

- 1. Choose the controller you need to delete and click (Table row actions), **Open discovered NEs in Device Management**. A filtered list of the NEs appears in a new tab.
- 2. For each NE, choose the NE and click (Table row actions), **Manage**, **Delete** and confirm. The NEs are removed from the local NSP but continue to be managed by the controller.

Return to Device Discovery, Domain Controllers, choose the controller and click
 (Table row actions), Delete, and confirm.

END OF STEPS

## 3 NE maintenance

### NE backup and restore

### 3.1 How do I back up an NE?

### 3.1.1 Purpose

You can back up an NE, provided there is an operation type configured for the selected NE. Backup is only supported for primary configurations. To back up multiple NEs simultaneously, you can use an operation. See 4.2.1 "Views" (p. 51) for information about configuring operation types and performing large-scale operations.

An FTP mediation policy must be assigned to the NE before you can perform a backup. FTP mediation policies are created and assigned using a REST API; see the Device Management tutorials on the Network Developer Portal.

An NDX file is required to perform a backup on nodes configured in classic or mixed mode. The backup operation fails if an NDX file with the same name as the configuration file defined in the bof file is not present in the same folder.

You can configure a backup to include debug files located on the same cf as the configuration file.

### 3.1.2 Steps

1	
•	Open Device Management, Managed Network Elements.
2	
-	From the Managed Network Elements list, select the NE you need to back up.
3	
	Click (Table row actions), Backup. The backup operation is added to the operations queue.
4	
	You can view the status of the backup in the Backup section of the details panel for the selected NE, or you can click (Table row actions), <b>Operation History</b> to view completed backups.
<b>E</b>	
	OF STEPS

### 3.2 How do I view backup files for an NE?

### 3.2.1 Steps

1

2 -

3

Open Device Management, Managed Network Elements.

- From the Managed Network Elements list, select the NE you need to manage.
  - To view backup files for a specific backup operation, perform the following:
  - 1. Click (Table row actions), **Review backups, View backup history**. The backup history view appears, displaying a list of backup operations performed on the selected NE.
  - 2. Select an operation and click (Table row actions), **View Files**. A list of backup files appears; you can select a file and click **View File Content** to display the contents of each file.
- 4 –

To view all backup files for an NE, perform the following:

- 1. Click (Table row actions), **Review Backups, View all backup files**. A list of all backup files stored in the NSP for the selected NE appears.
- 2. Select a backup file and click View Zip Content to explore the files in the archive.

END OF STEPS

## 3.3 How do I compare two backup files for an NE?

### 3.3.1 Purpose

You can view two files from two separate backups in a side-by-side comparison window that highlights differences. You can only compare files for backups that were performed from the NSP.

### 3.3.2 Steps

1 ------

Open Device Management, Managed Network Elements.

2 —

From the Managed Network Elements list, select the NE you need to manage.

3

To compare a previous backup with the most recent backup, perform the following:

- 1. Click (Table row actions), **Review backups, View backup history**. The backup history view appears, displaying a list of backup operations performed on the selected NE.
- 2. Select a successful backup operation and click (Table row actions), **Compare with latest backup**. A file compare window appears.
- 3. Select the files you need to compare from the drop-down lists. File comparison panels appear, displaying the contents of the files with any differences highlighted.
- 4

To compare any two backup files, perform the following:

- 1. Click (Table row actions), **Review Backups, View all backup files**. A list of all backup files stored in the NSP for the selected NE appears.
- 2. Select two backup files, and click on File Compare. A file compare window appears.
- 3. Select the files you need to compare from the drop-down lists. File comparison panels appear, displaying the contents of the files with any differences highlighted.

END OF STEPS

### 3.4 How do I restore an NE from a backup?

#### 3.4.1 Purpose

If you backed up an NE from NSP, you can restore to that backup from **Device management**, **Managed Network Elements**. The current NE version must match the version installed when the backup was made.

An FTP mediation policy must be assigned to the NE before you can perform a backup. FTP mediation policies are created and assigned using a REST API; see the Device Management tutorials on the Network Developer Portal.

### 3.4.2 Steps

1 –

Open Device Management, Managed Network Elements.

2 —

From the Managed Network Elements list, select the NE you need to restore.

3 —

Click (Table row actions), **Review backups, View backup history**. The backup history view appears, displaying a list of backup operations performed on the selected NE.

4

Select the successful backup operation which you would like to restore, and click **Restore**. If a default restore operation type is configured, then a restore operation is created and starts immediately; otherwise, the Restore NE form opens.

#### 5 -

If required, choose a restore operation type from the drop-down list in the Restore NE form, then click Restore.

6 -

You can view the status of the Restore operation on the Operations tab, and view a record of the completed Restore operation in the Operation History view.

END OF STEPS

# Part II: Advanced device management

### Overview

### Purpose

Provides information about advanced and large-scale options for managing NEs using NSP.

### Contents

Chapter 4, Large-scale operations	49
Chapter 5, NE software upgrades using NSP	
Chapter 6, Zero Touch Provisioning	75

# 4 Large-scale operations

### Overview

## 4.1 Operations

### 4.1.1 Overview

The Operation views are available if the Network Infrastructure Management - Basic Management feature package is included in the deployment. To complete operations, NSP executes workflows. You can view the workflows in the **Workflows**, **All Workflows** view if needed.

**i** Note: Before performing an operation on a group of NEs, you must define NE groups; see the NSP System Administrator Guide.

An operation is composed of a series of workflows, organized in phases, which are performed on a scope of NEs. Each phase of an operation is associated with a workflow. When the workflow for a phase is performed on an NE, it creates an execution within the operation, which is an instance of that phase's workflow being performed on that NE. The workflows, phases, and other details for an operation are defined in an operation type.

You can create an operation to perform a task on large numbers of NEs concurrently; for example, upgrading all SR NEs in a network to the latest SR OS release. To complete the task, the NSP performs the actions that are defined in workflows; the specific workflows used can vary depending on the target NE, and each operation type contains a mapping profile which specifies which workflow to use on an NE for each phase in the operation. For example, an upgrade operation may contain a phase for copying files to the target NE; the specific workflow called may be different for a 7450 ESS and a 7950 XRS, but at the end of the phase the files are copied.

### 4.1.2 Operation types

An operation type is the blueprint used to create an operation. Each operation type is intended to perform a general task, such as upgrading software, and combines an operation model and a mapping profile, which are used to find the appropriate workflows to be performed on the NEs specified in the operation. The mapping profile matches workflows to NEs based on NE identifiers (for example, NE family or version). The operation model extends the base operation model defined in the NSP for each operation type.

### Phases

Each operation is divided into phases, which are high-level steps in the process of the operation. Phases vary depending on the operation, and some operations have only a single phase. Some operations contain an Initial-Phase phase, which is performed against the NSP system to ensure the NSP is ready to proceed with the operation.

Phases which are waiting for your attention are noted in the **Device Management**, **All Operations** view.

#### **Executions**

An execution is the implementation of a phase on a specific NE. You can view the progress of individual phases by double-clicking on an operation in **Device Management**, All Operations view.

Executions can generate reports for you to review; report outputs are defined in the workflows used by the operation, so can vary between operations. Some operations generate reports in multiple phases, and provide an option for comparing reports - for example, an operation may have a precheck phase and a post-check phase, with both phases generating reports that can be compared to highlight differences. Which reports are comparable is defined in the mapping profile for the operation. For assistance in developing workflows and operations that generate reports, please contact your support representative.

#### Creating and updating operation types

Operation types are stored in the NSP as artifacts and managed using Artifacts. Adding a new operation type or updating an existing one requires installing an artifact bundle. For information about installing an artifact bundle, see "How do I install an artifact bundle?" in the NSP Network Automation Guide. For information about creating artifact packages, contact your Nokia support representative.



**i** Note: Before upgrading an operation type to a new major version by installing an updated artifact package, configure the lifecycle of the operation type to Withdrawn.

#### 4.1.3 Operation models

An operation model is a .yang file which can be used to extend the base operation model of each operation type. For example, the operation model included in the default NE Backup operation type extends the model to include the backup-file parameter, which retrieves the name of the backup file created by the operation and includes it in the task result summary as a parameter.

Operation inputs can be stated in an operation model, and values for those inputs configured when the operation is created.

#### 4.1.4 Mapping profiles

A mapping profile is a .yaml file that maps nodes to workflows, using node parameters such as node family and node software version. Qualifiers can be nested to produce more specific results, for example:

```
phases:
```

- phase: 'Backup'

description: 'Single phase backup'

concurrency count: 20

ne families:

```
- family type: 7750 SR, 7950 XRS
```

ne versions:

```
- version: all
workflow_name: LS0_7x50_Backup
workflow_inputs:
backup_certificates: no
```

You can use a mapping profile to call different workflows for different nodes, or provide different inputs for the same workflow.

### 4.1.5 Model-driven and mixed-mode operations

For operations performed on nodes discovered through mixed-mode or model-driven management, CLI access management must be enabled on the node. The following types of CLI access must be enabled, in the order shown: md-cli, and classic-cli.

For SR OS device commissioning information, see the Management Interface Protocol Configuration section in the adaptor artifact guide. For additional information if needed, see the NE documentation.

### 4.2 Operation views

#### 4.2.1 Views

The Operations group includes the following views: All Operations, Operation Schedules, Operation Types, and Node Images. Use the drop-down to switch from one view to another.

Term	Description	Navigation
Operation	An operation is a series of executions, organized in phases, which are performed on a scope of NEs. An operation is a job: it is composed of an operation type, a selected series of targets, inputs, and schedule.	Choose <b>All Operations</b> from the drop-down. This is the primary view, showing operations that are currently executing, scheduled, or completed.
Operation schedule	A schedule allows you to configure an to execute in the future, either once or repeatedly.	Choose <b>Operation Schedules</b> to view a list of scheduled future operations, and saved draft operations. You can delete scheduled operations from this list, and schedule or modify saved draft operations.
Operation type	An operation type provides the general definition of a task, such as upgrading software. The operation type combines an operation model and a mapping profile.	Choose <b>Operation Types</b> from the drop-down to view the list of configured operation types.

The following table describes device operations terms.

Term	Description	Navigation
Operation model	An operation model is a .yang file which can be used to extend the base operation model of each operation type. For example, the operation model included in the NE upgrade operation type extends the model to include a description of the required format of the target software version.	From the Operation Types view, select an operation type and click (Table row actions), View Operation Model.
Mapping profile	A mapping profile is a .yang file that is used to load the appropriate workflows to be performed to complete the operation. The mapping profile matches workflows to NEs based on NE identifiers (for example, NE family or version).	From the Operation Types view, select an operation type and click (Table row actions), View Mapping Profile. <b>Note:</b> You can view the workflows in the Workflows menu for more information about the detailed steps performed. You do not need to access Workflows to complete the upgrade.
Node image	Node software image stored in the NSP database for use by operations	Choose <b>Node Images</b> from the drop-down to view the list of imported software images, divided into tabs by node family. You can upload new images using the <b>+</b> <b>IMPORT</b> button.

## 4.3 Operation types provided by NSP

### 4.3.1 Default operation types

The NSP provides default operation types that allow you to perform backup, restore, upgrade, and audit operations. You can create additional operation types for use with your network. Default operation types are available for the nodes listed in the following table.

Node	Note
7750 SR	_
7950 XRS	_
7450 ESS	—
7220 IXR SRLinux	—
7250 IXR	—
7250 IXR SRLinux	—
7210 SAS and variants: Mxp, D, Dxp, K, M, X, T, R, E, S/Sx	Classic mode only
Wavence SM, SA, MSS-8/MSS-4 coreEvo	Classic mode upgrade only

**Note:** Audit operations can be performed on any node, provided the backup being audited was created using the nsp-ne-backup operation type.

### 4.3.2 Upgrade operation types

i

The NSP provides signed upgrade operation types for some NEs.

52

Operation name	Description	Supported NE types
nsp-ne-upgrade-with-phases	<ul> <li>Operation for Multi-Phase Upgrade</li> <li>The operation phases are:</li> <li>Pre-checks for NE upgrade</li> <li>Software image download to NE</li> <li>Software image activation on NE</li> <li>Reboot NE or perform CPM switchover to complete upgrade</li> <li>Each phase is a workflow.</li> </ul>	SR OS NEs, including 7750 SR, 7950 XRS, 7450 ESS, 7250 IXR, 7705 SAR, and 7210 SAS SR Linux NEs: 7220 IXR SRLinux, 7250 IXR SRLinux Upgrade is available to versions for which node software images can be found on the support portal.
nsp-ne-upgrade-eth-sat	Operation for Ethernet Satellite Upgrade	
nsp-ne-wavence-upgrade	Operation for Wavence NE Multi-Phase Upgrade	Wavence NEs

The following table describes the upgrade operations provided with NSP.

See the Device Management tutorials on the Network Developer Portal for information about working with Operations APIs.

Each operation calls one or more workflows. See the Workflows tutorial on the Network Developer Portal for information about updating workflows.

**i Important!** Operation types and workflows provided with the NSP for NE upgrade are signed by Nokia. Signed artifacts cannot be modified. If you choose to manually clone, edit and redeploy a signed artifact, the clone is not signed.

### Procedures

### 4.4 How do I change the life cycle state of an operation type?

### 4.4.1 Purpose

You can withdraw an operation type from service, or return an operation type to the released state. Withdrawn types do not appear in the list of options when choosing an operation to perform on an NE.

### 4.4.2 Steps

1

#### Open Device Management, Operation Types.

A list of existing operation types appears.

2

Select an operation type and select a life-cycle state from the drop-down menu in the Life Cycle column.

END OF STEPS

### 4.5 How do I start or schedule a new operation?

### 4.5.1 Purpose

You can start an operation on a group or list of NEs using the Operations views. NE groups are configured using the Map Layout; for information about creating NE groups, see the *NSP System Administrator Guide*.

Operations with a single phase can be scheduled to start at a later time, and can be configured to repeat (for example, a repeating backup operation). Schedule options depend on the type of operation. Operations with multiple phases, and single-phase upgrade operations, cannot be scheduled and instead run once when started. You can save an unscheduled operation and start or schedule it later.

Operations with multiple phases that are in the categories Upgrade or Other can be configured to proceed on a per-phase or per-target basis. When configured for per-phase progression, all targets must finish the current phase before any target can proceed to the next phase. When configured for per-target progression, a target can proceed to the next phase immediately regardless of the progression of other targets.

i

**Note:** Node upgrade operations have further requirements; see 5.1 "Upgrade operation requirements" (p. 67). If a node upgrade fails, the upgrade operation will restore the node software to the version that was installed previously.

NSP

### 4.5.2 Steps

1

2

3

Open Device Management, All Operations.

Click + **OPERATION**. The Create Operation form opens.

Click **+ OPERATION TYPE**, choose an operation type from the list that appears, and click **ADD**. To change the chosen operation type, click **REPLACE** and choose a different operation type.

4

In the General panel, provide a name and description for the operation, and configure the other attributes as required. Under Operation Control, choose per phase or per target progression, if available. Some operations support specifying a product family in the Targeted Product Family drop-down; specifying a product family restricts operation targets to that family and prevents incorrect targets from being chosen.

5 -

Click **+ SELECT** in the Select Targets panel. You can choose to select an individual resource, or a predefined group. The Select Network Elements window opens.

6

Search for a resource or resource group using the list and filters provided. You can filter and order the list using the column headers. Select one or more entries from the list and click **ADD**.

7

Configure the parameters in the Operation Inputs panel as required. The Advanced Inputs section allows you to configure the operation to end when certain thresholds are crossed. These can be specified separately for each phase. Click on the checkbox to enable an advanced input, and configure the value; unchecked inputs are not evaluated.

**i** Note: When configuring an upgrade operation, the Target Software Version parameter must be in TiMOS-20.10.R2 format. The Window Size parameter should not exceed the number of nodes that are a part of the operation. The Concurrency Count parameter is applied per phase and not to the operation overall.

8

Configure the parameters in the Schedule panel to specify when to start the phases of the operation. The available options depend on the operation type chosen, and whether the operation is configured to proceed per-phase or per-target (when available). Proceeding per-

target generally supports configuring a different option for each phase of the operation, which are triggered when a target reaches that phase.

Scheduling options can include:

- To schedule the operation to start at a later time, choose **Set up the schedule** and configure the scheduling options. This option is only available for single-phase operations, excluding upgrade operations.
- To start the phase immediately, choose Run Immediately.
- To configure the phase to wait to be started manually, choose Run manually.
- To configure the phase to wait for a specified amount of time before starting, choose **Run** after a delay (min) and specify a time in minutes.
- 9

Perform one of the following to finish creating the operation. Enable the Create Another option to create the operation and return to the Configure Operation panel to start a new operation.

- a. Click **RUN** to start the operation or add it to the schedule, as configured in the Schedule panel.
- b. Click **SAVE** to save the operation as a draft. You can select saved operations in the Operation Schedules view and configure or start the operation at a later time.

END OF STEPS -

### 4.6 How do I start or schedule a saved operation?

**i Tip:** You can start a saved operation immediately, or schedule one to start at a later time.

### 4.6.1 Steps

1 -

Open **Device Management**, **Operation Schedules**. A list of scheduled and saved operations appears.

2 —

To start a saved operation immediately, choose an operation, click **More** and select **Run**.

3

To edited a saved operation before starting, or schedule it for a later time, perform the following:

- 1. Choose an operation, click More and select Edit.
- 2. Configure the parameters, as required.
- 3. To perform the operation immediately, choose Run Immediately in the Schedule panel.
- 4. To add a single-phase operation to the schedule, choose **Set up the schedule** in the Schedule panel and configure a date and time.

5. Click **RUN** to start the operation or add it to the schedule, as configured in the Schedule panel.

END OF STEPS

### 4.7 How do I view or manage scheduled operations?

#### 4.7.1 Steps

Open **Device Management**, **Operation Schedules**. A list of scheduled and saved operations appears.

2 —

1

Select an operation to view detailed information about that operation in the Info panel.

3 -

To view the network elements affected by the operation, scroll to the Included Resources section of the Operation Summary panel and click **View**.

END OF STEPS

### 4.8 How do I view current operations and executions?

#### 4.8.1 Steps

Open Device Management, All Operations. A list of current operations appears.

2 -

1 -

To view the details of an operation, including an overview of phases and executions, click on the operation and review the information in the Operation Summary panel.

3 –

To view the network elements affected by the operation, scroll to the Included Resources section of the Operation Summary panel and click **View**.

4

To view detailed information about phases and executions in an operation, click **More** , and select **View**, or click on the View button in a phase in the Operation Summary panel. The View Included Executions view appears. Phases are shown in tabs at the top of the view, and executions that are part of the selected phase appear in the list.

END OF STEPS -

### 4.9 How do I start, stop, or pause an operation?

### 4.9.1 Purpose

You can stop or pause an existing operation, and start or stop a phase within an operation. Operations can be paused manually by a user, or automatically by crossing a configured threshold (for example, percentage of failed executions). Phases that are waiting can be manually started, and a phase that is in progress can be stopped or paused. An operation that is configured to proceed per-target cannot be paused.

When an operation is paused, any executions in progress continue to completion, and no more executions are launched until the operation is started or stopped. Starting a paused operation continues the current phase.

When an operation is stopped, any executions in progress continue to completion, and any executions remaining in the phase are cancelled and marked as failed. Starting a stopped operation starts the next phase, if one exists.

#### 4.9.2 Steps

1 Open **Device Management**, **All Operations**. A list of current and completed operations appears.

2 -

To pause an operation, choose an operation and click **More**, and select **Pause**. Executions already in progress continue to completion, and no more executions are started.

3

To start a phase of an operation, choose an operation and and click **More**, and select **Start next phase**; or, click **Start** in the Operation Summary panel, under the section for the next phase. You can also schedule when to start the phase by clicking **Schedule**.

4

To stop an operation in progress, choose an operation and click **More**, and select **Stop**, or select a phase in the Operation Summary panel and click **Stop**. Executions already in progress continue to completion, and any executions that have not started are marked as failed.

END OF STEPS

## 4.10 How do I view the details of completed operations?

### 4.10.1 Steps

1 -

Open **Device Management**, **All Operations**. A list of current and completed operations appears.

### 2 \_\_\_\_\_

Select an operation from the list to view detailed information about that operation in the Info panel.

3 —

To view the network elements affected by the operation, scroll to the Included Resources section of the Operation Summary panel and click **View**.

4 —

To remove the record from the list permanently, click **‡** (Table row actions), Delete.

5 \_\_\_\_\_

Click (Table row actions), View Included Executions to see the executions performed as a part of the selected operation.

6 \_\_\_\_\_

Select an execution from the list to view information about that execution in the Info panel.

END OF STEPS

## 4.11 How do I view a history of operations performed on an NE?

#### 4.11.1 Steps

Open **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements.** A list of network elements appears.

2 —

1 -

In the row for the NE you need to manage, click (Table row actions), Operation History. A list of operations performed on that NE appears.

END OF STEPS

### 4.12 How do I automate the cleanup of completed operations?

#### 4.12.1 Purpose

You can create Operation Clean-up policies to automatically delete operations after a specified time. A policy can apply to all operations, or only operations of specific types. The default clean-up policy removes operations that are older than 30 days, triggering once a day at 07:30 am.



**Note:** You can create multiple policies for the same filter, but the lifecycle of duplicate policies should be closely managed. Cleanup is not applied to operations created as a part of importing node images during the nsp-ne-sw-import operation.

### 4.12.2 Steps

1

Open **Device Management**, **All Operations**. A list of current and completed operations appears.

2

Click on Settings. The Device Operations Settings panel appears, displaying a list of clean-up policies.

3 —

Create a new policy by clicking **+ Policy**, or edit an existing policy by clicking (Table row actions), **Edit**.

4

Specify a name for the policy, and click Enable Policy to make the policy active.

5 —

In the Operations older than (days) field, specify how old, in days, an operation must be before the policy removes the operation.

6

To restrict the policy to clean up only certain types of operations, click on the Filter (Operation types) drop-down and select operation types from the list. You can click multiple times to select multiple types.

7 -

Configure a schedule to specify when the policy checks the current age of all operations and performs a clean up. You can select daily, monthly, or weekly cleanups, or provide a cron expression.

8

Click Save to save the policy and close the form.

END OF STEPS -

## 4.13 How do I view reports generated by an operation?

### 4.13.1 Purpose

You can view reports generated by an operation that is in progress or has been completed using the View Reports action. .



**Note:** Some workflows do not generate reports. The View Report action is only available if a report is available for review.

### 4.13.2 Steps

1

Open **Device Management**, **All Operations**. A list of current and completed operations appears.

- Choose an operation and click **More** ; , and select **View Executions**. A list of executions appears.
- 3 –

2 –

Select a phase at the top of the list, choose an execution, then click **More**, and select **View Reports**. The report for the chosen execution appears.

4

For operations that generate reports for two different phases, you can compare the reports for an NE by clicking on Compare Reports in the execution summary panel. The initial and final reports appear in a differential view. Whether two reports can be compared is defined in the mapping profile for the operation; for information about developing reports, contact your service representative.

END OF STEPS -

### 4.14 How do I retry an execution within a phase?

#### 4.14.1 Purpose

You can rerun executions in a paused or in-progress operation using the Rerun action, repeating the workflow for the selected targets. Only executions for the current phase can be rerun, and after a new phase has started, executions for the previous phase cannot be rerun. When you rerun an execution, the next phase cannot be started until the reruns are complete. Executions in a completed operation cannot be rerun.

### 4.14.2 Steps

1 -

Open **Device Management**, **All Operations**. A list of current and completed operations appears.

2 \_\_\_\_\_

Choose an operation and click **More** ; , and select **View**. A list of executions appears.

3 \_\_\_\_\_

Click on the chip filter for the phase containing the execution you need to retry. The list displays the executions for that phase.

#### 4 –

Choose one or more executions, then click More , and select Rerun. The chosen executions are repeated from the beginning of the phase.

END OF STEPS

#### 4.15 How do I terminate an execution in progress?

### 4.15.1 Purpose

You can use the Terminate action to end an execution in progress. When an execution is terminated, the workflow ends, no further commands are processed, and the execution is placed in a failed state. You can retry a terminated execution.



**i** Note: If the Terminate action is triggered while the final task in an execution is in progress or completing, then the execution completes normally and is not placed in a failed state.

#### 4.15.2 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, All Operations. A list of current and completed operations appears.

2 \_\_\_\_\_

Choose an operation and click **More**, and select **View**. A list of executions appears.

3 —

Click on the chip filter for the phase containing the execution you need to terminate. The list displays the executions for that phase.

4

Choose an executions, then click More 1, and select Terminate. The chosen execution is terminated, and the state changes to failed.

END OF STEPS -

#### 4.16 How do I retry a failed operation?

#### 4.16.1 Purpose

You can retry an operation that has one or more failed executions using the Clone with failed executions action. A new operation is created, targeting the nodes where the previous executions failed.

NSP

### 4.16.2 Steps

1

1	
	Open <b>Device Management</b> , <b>All Operations</b> . A list of current and completed operations appears.
2	Choose an operation with failed executions from the list and click <b>More</b> , then select <b>Clone</b>
	with failed executions. The Create Operation form appears, with the values cloned from the chosen operation.
3	
	Configure the Name parameter with a new name. Reconfigure other parameters as required.
4	
	Click <b>RUN</b> to start the operation or add it to the schedule; click <b>SAVE</b> to save the operation as a draft.
END	OF STEPS
Но	ow do I perform a rollback on a target in an operation?

#### 4.17.1 Purpose

4.17

You can trigger the rollback action on an execution in an operation, which will perform the rollback workflow defined for the operation on the target of that execution. After a rollback has been performed, the target of the rollback is marked as failed for the remainder of the operation, no further executions can be performed on the target, and previous executions cannot be retried.

Before you can perform the rollback action, a rollback workflow must be defined in the mapping file for the operation, and the rollback allowed parameter must be true. When you perform a rollback on an execution in a completed phase, the phase enters the in-progress state, and other phases cannot start until the rollback is complete.

Some operations can be configured to automatically perform a rollback on failed targets, using the Rollback Type setting. Automatic rollback is only available for operations with the rollback type parameter in the mapping file for the operation configured to automatic. Not all operations support automatic rollback. Contact a Nokia support representative for assistance with modifying an operation to use automatic rollback.

### 4.17.2 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, All Operations. A list of current and completed operations appears.

Choose an operation and click **More**, and select **View**. A list of executions appears.

3 -

2 -

Click on the chip filter for the phase containing the execution you need to rollback. The list displays the executions for that phase.

4

Choose one or more executions, then click **More**, and select **Rollback**. The chosen executions are placed in an in-progress state, and the rollback workflow defined in the operation is performed on the chosen targets.

END OF STEPS

## Troubleshooting

## 4.18 Operation troubleshooting

### 4.18.1 All Operations view

The All Operations view displays information about operations at every stage, whether ready, paused, in progress, or complete. In the event that an operation encounters problems, there are actions you can perform to investigate or manage troubled operations:

- View current operations. Operations that require attention or have encountered errors are marked in the All Operations view. See 4.8 "How do I view current operations and executions?" (p. 57).
- View details of completed operations. Completed operations remain in the All Operations view until deleted. See 4.10 "How do I view the details of completed operations?" (p. 58).
- View reports generated by executions. Some operations generate reports during certain phases. See 4.13 "How do I view reports generated by an operation?" (p. 60).
- **Retry failed executions.** You can re-run some executions in the most recent phase of an operation. Executions from previous phases cannot be re-run after the operation has moved to a new phase. See 4.14 "How do I retry an execution within a phase?" (p. 61).
- **Retry failed operations.** You can retry an operation, creating a new operation of the same type that targets elements that failed the original operation. See 4.16 "How do I retry a failed operation?" (p. 62).
- **Rollback a phase.** Some phases in an operation can be rolled back, depending on whether a rollback workflow exists for that phase. See 4.17 "How do I perform a rollback on a target in an operation?" (p. 63).

65

# 5 NE software upgrades using NSP

## NE software upgrades using NSP

### 5.1 Upgrade operation requirements

### 5.1.1 Prerequisites

Performing an upgrade operation on an NE requires the fulfillment of certain prerequisites, depending on the NE configuration and management. Before you perform an NE upgrade operation, you must import an NE software image. For NEs managed using MDM, see 5.3 "How do I import an NE software image?" (p. 69). NE software images can be downloaded from the Nokia Support Portal for the NE type and release.

For NEs managed using MDM, the adaptors for the new software version must be present on the NSP; see "How do I install adaptor artifacts that are not supported in the Artifacts view?" in the *NSP System Administrator Guide*.

The following additional general requirements apply to all upgrades:

- · do not delete NE software images from the NSP during an upgrade operation
- both primary and secondary images should be stored on the same flash drive number (for example, cf3 or cf1)
- bof.cfg should be stored on the same cf where the primary image is stored
- backout files are stored locally on the NE, and are required if an upgrade fails
- pre-check removes images not referenced in the BOF configuration. If insufficient space is freed up, the upgrade cannot proceed.
- tertiary images are not supported

An upgrade operation can fail if a workflow task times out, for example fetching upgrade status or validating downloads and CPM synchronization. You may need to customize the upgrade workflow for your network; see the *NSP Network Automation Guide* for information about modifying workflows.

#### 7x50 and ISSU upgrade path limitations

For 7x50 NEs, and for ISSU upgrades, the NSP only supports upgrading to a version that is up to two major releases later than the version currently installed on the NE. For example, an NE can be upgraded from Release 21.x to Release 22.x or 23.x, but not to Release 24.x or later.

#### NSP classically-managed NEs

You can use the NSP to upgrade NEs managed through NSP Classic mediation. The following requirements apply:

- The upgrade image must be imported into the NFM-P. See the Classic Management User Guide.
- Both CLI and FTP/SFTP mediation must be configured for the target NEs. For nodes managed through mixed-mode mediation, the following types of CLI access must be enabled, in the order shown: md-cli, and classic-cli.

• NFM-P upgrade policies should have the Validate Disk Space parameter enabled. The upgrade policy used by the upgrade operation is specified in the operation mapping file.

For the multi-phase upgrade operation type nsp-ne-upgrade-with-phases, the following three policies must be configured on the NFM-P with the settings specified below:

Policy name	Required settings
download	download=true, activate=false, reboot=false
activate	download=false, activate=true, reboot=false
reboot	download=false, activate=false, reboot=true (issu=true if issu upgrade triggered)

### 5.2 Process for NE upgrade

### 5.2.1 Stages

#### 1 -

Verify the management type for the NE. The upgrade process will be different for MDM managed and NSP Classic managed NEs. See the Prerequisites section for information about differing requirements.

For SR OS device commissioning information, see the Management Interface Protocol Configuration section in the adaptor artifact guide. For additional information if needed, see the NE documentation.

2

Import NE software images as needed; see 5.3 "How do I import an NE software image?" (p. 69).

3

Start the upgrade operation; see 4.5 "How do I start or schedule a new operation?" (p. 54)

4

View the operation in the Operations tab to monitor it; see 4.8 "How do I view current operations and executions?" (p. 57).

5

You can stop or pause an existing operation, and start or stop a phase within an operation. Operations can be paused manually by a user, or automatically by crossing a configured threshold (for example, percentage of failed executions). Phases that are waiting can be manually started, and a phase that is in progress can be stopped or paused.

• Pause: Executions already in progress continue to completion, and no more executions are started. The operation remains in the All Operations view, and can be unpaused using the Resume action.

• Stop: Executions already in progress continue to completion, and any executions that have not started are marked as failed.

See 4.9 "How do I start, stop, or pause an operation?" (p. 58).

\_\_\_\_\_

When the upgrade is complete, the NE reboots and raises a reboot alarm. The reboot alarm triggers an NE-specific discovery scan. When the discovery scan detects a version change, the NE information is updated.

7

6

After the upgrade is complete, you can check the History list to verify success, troubleshoot failures, or check schedules for future operations. See 4.10 "How do I view the details of completed operations?" (p. 58)

8

To perform a rollback, see 4.17 "How do I perform a rollback on a target in an operation?" (p. 63).

### 5.3 How do I import an NE software image?

#### 5.3.1 Purpose

You can upload a NE software image to use in upgrade operations for supported NEs.



**Note:** For 7x50 image import, the software bundle name and contents must not be modified after downloading it from the Nokia support page.

### 5.3.2 Steps

1 -

2 -

Open Device Management, Node Images.

Click Import. The Import Node Software Images form opens.

3 -

Specify the image name, the product type, and the md5 checksum for the software image. The md5 checksum for an image is displayed on the Nokia support page where the file was downloaded.

4

Drag and drop the node software image file into the Software Bundle field, or click browse to select the file in a file browser.

5 –

Click **Import** to upload the node software image to the NSP.

END OF STEPS

### 5.4 How do I upgrade software on an NE?

### 5.4.1 Purpose

This procedure shows the process of upgrading software on an MDM-managed 7750 SR NE. Before performing this procedure, verify that the NE to be upgraded is reachable, and that adaptors for the new software version are installed on the NSP.

Nokia recommends using the nsp-ne-upgrade-with-phases operation type to upgrade a 7750 SR. When you create an operation with this operation type and NE type, the parameter values are provided as input for the upgrade workflow. NSP monitors the status of workflow executions.



**Note:** Scale limits apply for number of concurrent executions and number of targets per operation; see Scale limits for large-scale operations in the *NSP Planning Guide*.

Phase Workflow Process Pre-checks LSO 7x50 Pre Checks Checks current software version: if which calls the update is already done, no workflow is called LSO 7x50 Upgrade MD Mixed Pre Checks for MD mode · Checks the BOF · Checks on CPM redundancy · Checks availability of adaptors and supported equipment Checks for deprecated cards and MDAs on the node · Retrieves details of the target software image • Runs a cleanup of stale images on the the /images/ folder Download LSO 7x50 Download · Reads and processes the BOF which calls Creates a directory on the NE and LSO 7x50 Upgrade MD Mixed transfers the image files Download for MD mode · Confirms the file integrity and sends a success message Activate LSO 7x50 Activate · Saves the updated configuration on which calls the NE and performs an admin LSO 7x50 Upgrade MD Mixed save Activate for MD mode · Synchronizes the CPM Resets redundancy settings as needed and sends a success message

The following table shows the general process for this example procedure.

Phase	Workflow	Process
Reboot	LSO_7x50_Reboot which calls LSO_7x50_Upgrade_MD_Mixed_ Reboot for mixed mode	<ul> <li>Checks BOF instructions for reboot and CPM redundancy requirements</li> <li>Processes redundancy</li> <li>Triggers a reboot and checks the device version.</li> <li>Sends a success message.</li> </ul>

### 5.4.2 Steps

1 -Perform 5.3 "How do I import an NE software image?" (p. 69). 2 – Open Device Management, All Operations. 3 — Click **+ OPERATION**. 4 In the form that opens, click + **OPERATION TYPE**. 5 \_\_\_\_\_ In the Select an Operation Type form, choose nsp-ne-upgrade-with-phases and click ADD. Fields required for the operation appear in the Operation Inputs panel. 6 In the Basic Info panel, enter a name for the operation and an optional description. You can identify the operation by the name you enter. 7 — In the Select Targets panel, click **+ SELECT**, Resources, Network Elements. 8 In the Select Network Elements form, choose one or more NEs to add them to the Bin on the right of the form. Use the fields above the list of NEs to filter the list as needed. 9 — Click ADD. The NEs you selected appear in the Select Targets panel. You can change the list of selected targets if needed:

- Click + SELECT to reopen the Select Network Elements form and add additional NEs.
- Choose an NE and click i (Delete) to remove the NE from the list of targets.
- Click **CLEAR** to clear the list.

#### 10 -

In the Operation Inputs panel, configure the mandatory parameters:

Parameter	Description
Target Software Version	Specifies the node software version you are upgrading to. For a 7750 SR NE, the format of the software version must be must be TiMOS-xx.yy.Rz, for example, TiMOS-21.5.R1.
Is ISSU	Specifies whether the upgrade operation is an in service software upgrade. This parameter is only valid for MDM-managed NEs.
Auto Cleanup	Specifies whether automatic flash cleanup should be performed on the NE as part of the operation.
Free Space Post Upgrade (Enter a Number)	Specifies the expected free disk space after upgrade, as a percentage. Enter a number.

#### 11

Configure the Advanced Inputs as needed:

Parameter	Description
Window Size Failure Threshold	These two parameters work together to define an automatic stopping point for the operation due to failed workflow executions:
	<ul> <li>Window size specifies the sample size to use when calculating whether a threshold has been crossed.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Failure threshold specifies the percentage of executions failed that will trigger the automatic stop.</li> </ul>
	For example, with a window size of 200 and a failure threshold of 50%, the operation will automatically stop after 100 failed executions. The phase and operation are paused and any not-started executions remain in not-started status.
The following parameters can be configured separately for each phase of the operation: pre-checks, software download, software activation, and NE reboot or CMP switchover.	
Parameter	Description
---	--
<ul> <li>Concurrency Count</li> <li>Phase Timeout (minutes)</li> <li>Average Execution Threshold (minutes)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>These parameters specify how the workflow executions will be managed. The pre-check steps themselves are defined in the applicable workflow.</li> <li>Concurrency Count: maximum number of executions to run concurrently</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Phase Timeout and Average Execution Threshold: if these parameters are configured, the operation automatically stops after the specified time. The phase and operation are paused and any not-started executions remain in not-started status.</li> </ul>

12

In the Schedule panel, configure scheduling for each phase of the upgrade. For example, you can configure the operation to run the pre-check phase immediately and the software download phase as soon as the pre-checks are complete, and complete the activation and reboot during a maintenance window.

For the pre-check phase: Set up the schedule.

- · Click Run immediately, or
- Click Set up the schedule and configure the start and end times.

For each subsequent phase:

- · Click Run manually to execute after the previous phase completes, or
- Click Set up the schedule and configure the start and end times.

13 —

Click **RUN**. The operation appears in the All Operations view and begins executing according to the schedule.

END OF STEPS

# 6 Zero Touch Provisioning

### 6.1 What is Zero Touch Provisioning?

### 6.1.1 Zero Touch Provisioning

Zero Touch Provisioning (ZTP) is an SR OS feature that automatically configures a node by obtaining the required information from the network and provisioning the device with minimal manual intervention and configuration. When new devices that support ZTP are connected and boot up, the device is auto-provisioned.

For more information about ZTP and the specific devices on which it is supported, see the ZTP information in the device documentation: *Nokia 7450 Ethernet Services Switch, 7750 Service Router, 7950 Extensible Routing System, and Virtualized Service Router Basic System Configuration Guide* 

RESTCONF APIs are also available for ZTP; see the API documentation on the Network Developer Portal.

NSP Zero Touch Provisioning provides tools to generate ZTP files for device provisioning, and adds device information to discovery rules, reducing manual work required for device discovery by NSP or NFM-P.

ZTP NE details can be exported from NSP in JSON format. The exported data can facilitate the automation of the DHCP server configuration.

NSP uses the following intent types to facilitate ZTP:

- Create\_HTTP\_User: creates a user identity to connect with the NSP file server Note: creation of an HTTP user is a one time operation. Only one HTTP user is supported.
- ZTP-Profile: saves a set of NE information and discovery information that can be applied to multiple devices. For example, you can create a profile for MDM managed 7250 IXR devices and one for classically managed 7250 IXR devices.

Create a ZTP profile for each set of generic parameters you need.

• Day-0-ZTP: takes the parameters provided in a ZTP profile and parameters that are unique to a device and creates configuration and provisioning files for the device on the NSP file server. Create a Day-0 intent for each device.

When the intents have been executed, the device is added to the list in the **Device Management**, **ZTP Process list** view. The device can then be powered on and discovery can be initiated.

The ZTP process list can be cleaned up using a workflow.

**Important!** NSP Zero Touch Provisioning has been tested with 7250 IXR-e and 7750 SR 14s NEs. Contact Nokia for assistance in using ZTP with any other NE type.

### 6.1.2 NSP ZTP Prerequisites

NSP ZTP requires the following prerequisites:

- Prerequisites for device ZTP must be in place; see the NE documentation.
- The ZTP intents zip files must be downloaded from Nokia central resources; contact your Nokia representative for details
- An HTTP user must be created using the Create\_HTTP\_User intent type; see 6.2 "How do I configure Zero Touch Provisioning?" (p. 77).
- A discovery rule for the NE must be created in NSP. The administrative state of the discovery rule must be Down.
- For classic devices, a discovery rule for the NE must be created in NFM-P in addition to the discovery rule in NSP. The administrative state of the discovery rule must be Down.
   See the NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide for more information about discovery rule configuration in NFM-P.
- If you plan to upgrade your device as part of the ZTP process, for example if you purchased a device with Release 20.7 software and want to use it with Release 20.10, you must import the new software image to the NSP file server before performing ZTP. If you do this, you can configure the new target software version as part of the ZTP profile intent.
   See the 5.3 "How do I import an NE software image?" (p. 69).
- If you plan to use an IP resource pool for IP address assignment, the IP resource pool must be created in NSP.

See the *NSP System Administrator Guide* for information about using IP resource pools. Also see the Resource Administration tutorial on the Network Developer Portal.

#### 6.1.3 Process

Figure 6-1, "Zero Touch Provisioning process" (p. 77) shows the ZTP process with NSP.

When the ZTP Day-0 intent is created and synchronized:

- · Configuration and provisioning files are created and stored on the file server
- · Paths and filenames for the configuration and provisioning files are saved to the database
- · Device IP addresses is added to the relevant discovery rules
- The device is added to the list of ZTP Process network elements in NSP.

If all ZTP intents are synchronized, the operator turns up the discovery rule and powers on the node. The node completes ZTP and reboots.

After rebooting, MDM managed devices are ready to manage. For classic devices, a setting must be changed in CLI to prepare the device for discovery; see 6.2 "How do I configure Zero Touch Provisioning?" (p. 77).



### 6.2 How do I configure Zero Touch Provisioning?

#### 6.2.1 Note

This procedure requires the use of multiple functions within NSP, and optionally the NFM-P. For complete configuration details, you may need to consult the following documents:

- NSP Network Automation Guide
- NSP System Administrator Guide
- NSP NFM-P Classic Management User Guide
- NE documentation: Nokia 7450 Ethernet Services Switch, 7750 Service Router, 7950 Extensible Routing System, and Virtualized Service Router Basic System Configuration Guide

#### 6.2.2 Process

#### Import intent types

1

Download the ZTP zip file to your computer.

Three intent types are included in the zip file: Create\_HTTP\_User, ZTP-Profile, and Day-0-ZTP.

2 –

- Import the intent types to NSP:
- 1. Open Network Intents, Intent Types.
- 2. Click Import.
- 3. In the form that opens, navigate to the file you want and click Open.
- 3

Evaluate and update the Day-0-ZTP intent type to ensure that it will generate the correct information in the provisioning and day-0 config files.

The primary image file in the bof portion of the provisioning file generated from the intent type must match the information on the compact flash of the device.

Contact Nokia for assistance with this step.

#### Create an HTTP user

4

An HTTP user is required to connect to the NSP file server. This step only needs to be performed once.

The file server only supports one HTTP User.

In **Network Intents**, **Intent Types**, select the Create\_HTTP\_User intent type and click **Create Intent +**.

5 –

In the form that opens, configure the parameters and click Create.

#### Create at least one ZTP profile

6

A ZTP profile contains template values that can apply to multiple devices.

In **Network Intents**, **Intent Types**, select the ZTP-Profile intent type and click **Create Intent** + .

7 -

In the form that opens, configure the required parameters:

- Choose the management mode: classic, mixed, or model driven.
- Choose the management connection, for example, in-band.
   For model-driven management, only in-band and out-of-band are available.

For classic management, the drop-down includes in-band, out-of-band, and in-bandembedded-config. With in-band-embedded-config, the day-0 configuration parameters will be part of the provisioning file. Embedded configuration is only available with supported releases of the 7250 IXR.

· Choose the NE Type.

8

Configure additional parameters as needed.

Attention: Static routes are only supported with the out-of-band management connection type.

9 —

Click Create.

The ZTP profile is now available.

10 -

Create additional ZTP profiles as needed for each set of device parameters.

#### Create a ZTP intent for each device you want to provision

11 -

The ZTP intent will create the provisioning and configuration files.

In **Network Intents**, **Intent Types**, select the Day-0-ZTP intent type and click **Create Intent** + .

12 —

In the form that opens, configure the parameters:

- · Enter the DHCP client address for the NE in the ZTP ID field
- · Choose the ZTP profile to apply the template values
- Enter a unique NE name.
- Configure the System and Management IP addresses. Enter the IP addresses manually or choose IP Resource Pool for automated IP address assignment. IP resource pools can be created in the Resource Manager menu.

Note: The System IP address and Management IP address must be different.

• Choose a discovery rule, and, for classic NEs, an NFM-P discovery rule.

13 —

#### Click Create.

The provisioning and configuration files are created and a new rule element is added to the relevant discovery rule.

#### 14 —

Verify and update the day–0 configuration and provisioning files to match network settings, NE card type and port settings. Contact Nokia for assistance.

#### Verify the information and discover the device

15	
10	
	Open Device Management, ZTP Process from the drop-down.

The list of devices for which ZTP is configured is displayed.

16 –

Click on an NE to see the details.

17 –

Click **Export** to save the NE information to a JSON file if needed.

18 —

Power on the device.

The device completes ZTP and reboots. The discovery status in the **ZTP Process** list is updated.

19 \_\_\_\_\_

In NSP and NFM-P, turn the relevant discovery rules up.

#### **Configure cleanup of the ZTP Process list**

#### 20 -

Import the ZTP\_Purge\_Workflow and ZTP\_Artifacts\_Cleanup workflows from the ZTP zip file into NSP.

21 —

Open Workflows, All Workflows.

22 \_\_\_\_\_

Choose ZTP\_Purge\_Workflow.

**Note:** The ZTP\_Purge\_Workflow runs ZTP\_Artifacts\_Cleanup during its operation. Both workflows must be present in NSP.

23 —

From the menu at the end of the row, choose **More Execute**.

#### 24

Update the retentionDays parameter as needed and click **Execute**.

The cleanup removes NEs with Success status from the ZTP Process NEs list that have been discovered longer than the configured number of days.

#### 25

Schedule execution of the ZTP\_Purge\_Workflow for automated cleanup if needed; see "How do I schedule a workflow?" in the *NSP Network Automation Guide*.

### 6.3 Can I change ZTP parameters from NSP?

### 6.3.1 ZTP list is read-only

No: the ZTP Process list is read-only. If you find an error, change the configuration in the intent type.

To remove NEs from the ZTP list, open **Device Management**, **ZTP Process**, choose one or more NEs, and click **Delete 1**.

To delete the configuration files, open **Network Intents**, **Intent Types**, and delete the intents created for the device.

**Note:** ZTP profiles can be changed by editing the ZTP profile intent. If you have changed a ZTP profile you must resync the Day-0-ZTP intents that use the profile to apply the changes. If you do not resync the intents, the ZTP profile changes are not applied.

NSP

# Part III: Device configuration

### Overview

### Purpose

Provides overview and procedures for configuring devices using NSP.

#### Contents

Chapter 7, Device object configuration	85
Chapter 8, Network configuration	91

### Viewing NE parameters

### 7.1 How do I see what is configured on an NE?

### 7.1.1 NE inventory view

Select an NE from the list in **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements** and click (Table row actions), **View NE Inventory**. The NE inventory tree view opens in a new browser tab.

NE child objects are displayed in an expandable/collapsible hierarchy. Click on an inventory object to show object properties in the Information panel.

Individual inventory objects (child objects) show object names and basic administrative and operational state information. The color of an inventory object indicates its state.



**Note:** The inventory details available in NSP depend on the adaptors installed and managed NE configuration.

NE inventory information is grouped by type of object:

Physical inventory

Physical objects configured on the NE, such as shelves, cards, and ports, are grouped in the inventory view as an Equipment Group.

Logical inventory

If applicable, supported logical entities such as LAGs and routing instances are also displayed, grouped as a Logical Group. The Logical Group appears below the Equipment Group in the inventory tree.

#### Available actions

Select an inventory object and click to open the tree item actions menu. Options in the tree item actions menu depend on the object.

- For the NE (top of the inventory):
  - Open in Current Alarms: opens the alarm list
  - Open object (available on model-driven NEs only):
     Model Driven Configurator opens in a new browser tab, filtered to the object.
  - Open NE session: a CLI session with the NE opens in a new browser tab.
  - Plot utilization statistics: a set of utilization statistics charts opens in a new browser tab.
  - Show in Event Timeline: a filtered event timeline for the NE opens in a new browser tab.
- For a port:
  - Open in Current Alarms
  - Open object (available on model-driven NEs only)
  - Plot utilization statistics
- For other objects, the only options are **Open object** and **Expand all equipment tree items**.

If an option in the object tree item actions menu is dimmed, the action is not available.

NSP

If this occurs, check the following:

- adaptors:
  - MDC adaptors must be present for the NE for Model Driven Configurator to be opened
  - an alarm adaptor must be present for NSP to display alarms
  - telemetry mappings must be present to plot statistics
- Mediation: for NE session, a CLI mediation policy must be configured in the discovery rule used to manage the NE.

If the problem persists, contact Nokia support.

#### 7.1.2 Configured Attributes view

Open the Model Driven Configurator view for the NE to see the parameters defined in the NE adaptation schema.

NE parameters are displayed using a tree structure, derived from the YANG model of the NE. The schema trees displayed vary based on the NE adaptors that are installed. For example, the 7750 SR device supports nokia-conf, nokia-state and openconfig models. The state schema is read-only.

Choose Configured Attributes View from the drop-down list at the top of the page to view only the configured parameters on the NE. Choose All Attributes View to view all of the available parameters, including parameters with default values.

### Model Driven Configurator

### 7.2 What tools can I use to configure NEs in NSP?

### 7.2.1 Configuration tools

The following table describes functions within NSP that can be used to perform configuration tasks.

Function	Description	Path in NSP	Documentation reference
Model Driven Configurator	Model Driven Configurator allows you to configure parameters and view state information defined in the NE adaptation schema Model Driven Configurator is applicable to devices managed by MDM for which MDC adaptors have been installed in the MDM server. The built-in device models are used; that is, Model Driven Configurator does not perform any model conversion. This enables compatibility with future NE releases without the need to upgrade the NSP. All that is required is installation of the new adaptors.	Model Driven Configurator	This chapter RESTCONF APIs are also available for MDM managed NEs; see the Device Configuration API documentation on the Network Developer Portal.
Infrastructure Configuration Management (ICM)	With ICM, you can define reusable configuration templates covering physical configurations such as cards and ports, and logical configurations such as QoS. These templates can be deployed to the network with fixed or flexible attributes.	Device Management, Configuration Deployments	Chapter 8, "Network configuration"
Large-scale operations (LSO)	An operation is a series of executions, organized in phases, which are performed on a scope of NEs. You can use an operation to perform executions on large numbers of NEs concurrently; for example, upgrading all SR NEs in a network to the latest SR OS release.	Device Management, All Operations	Chapter 4, "Large-scale operations"

Function	Description	Path in NSP	Documentation reference
Service Management	Service Management allows for service provisioning and activation across networks accessible to the NSP, enabling users to make service requests that deploy services to the network using the NSP's mediation framework. A library exists with a predefined set of service models for both classic and model-mode SR OS networks. These service models can be installed and utilized by NSP to provide assurance that service configuration is as planned/requested, and also provides adaptability for custom service model requests.	Service Management, Service List	NSP Service Management Guide

### 7.3 How do I open a device for configuration?

### 7.3.1 Steps

1

To open a specified NE object:

- 1. Open Device Management, Managed Network Elements.
- 2. Select an NE and click (Table row actions), **Open inventory**. The NE inventory tree view opens in a new browser tab.
- 3. Select an object in the inventory tree and click and click **Open object**

The Configured Attributes view for the object opens in a new browser tab.

2 –

To navigate to an NE schema from the main menu:

- 1. Open Model Driven Configurator.
- 2. Click in the **Search for a Network Element** field.
  - Enter search terms in the filter fields at the top of the page to find a specific NE using NE ID, NE Name, Node Type, or Version.
- 3. Double-click on an NE. A list of available schemas for the NE appears.
- 4. Click on a schema in the list to view the specific attributes of the schema.

END OF STEPS

### 7.4 How do I configure device objects?

#### 7.4.1 Configuring model-driven NE parameters

Use this procedure to configure parameters on a model-driven NE.



**Note:** The **Refresh** icon fetches the latest values from the NE. The schema views do not automatically refresh.



Note: Mandatory fields have an asterisk (\*) next to the attribute name.

### 7.4.2 Config basket

The config basket lets you create a list of configuration changes and submit multiple changes at the same time.

The config basket displays the list of changes, with links to the schema where the changes will be made. You can validate, cancel, or submit the changes, or click the link to return to the schema and edit the change. From the config basket, click **CONTINUE EDITING** to return to the schema.

The following restrictions apply.

- The config basket can only be used for one NE at a time. Changes cannot be pushed from the config basket to multiple NEs.
- If two YANG models are supported by the same adaptor, changes to both can be submitted at the same time.
- The config basket contents are only populated for the duration of the session; they cannot be saved for later use.

### 7.4.3 Steps

#### 1

Navigate to the configuration schema; perform 7.3 "How do I open a device for configuration?" (p. 88).

#### 2

Navigate through the branches of the schema to the object you want to configure.

To navigate to a previous configuration window, click on the object in the Root path.

#### 3

To create an object:

1. Click **CREATE** *object* and configure the applicable parameters.

where *object* is the object type you want to create.

2. Once the object instance parameters are configured, click **ADD TO CONFIG BASKET**.

The newly created object is added to the config basket. It appears in the list marked with a change bar; however, it is not yet committed.

#### 4 –

To modify an object:

- Configure the required parameters in the branch you navigated to. The change is marked by a white bullet.
- 2. Click ADD TO CONFIG BASKET.

Your configured changes are added to the list in the config basket. The bullet marking the change becomes a solid bullet.

3. If required, navigate to another branch and add additional changes to the config basket.

5 -

To delete an object:

Select the object and click **Delete i** . The deletion is added to the config basket. The change is marked by a red change bar.

6 —

Click **CONFIG BASKET** to review your list of changes.

Click **Delete i** to remove a change from the config basket if needed.

7

To update your changes:

- a. To return to the last branch you viewed and make further changes, click **CONTINUE EDITING**.
- b. To remove a change, select a change from the list and click Delete 📋 .
- c. To modify a change, delete it, click **CONTINUE EDITING**, and make the change again with the new value.
- 8

#### Click VALIDATE.

If validation fails:

- 1. Delete the failed change from the config basket.
- 2. Click **CONTINUE EDITING** to return to the branch.
- 3. Make your change again, click **CONFIG BASKET**, and validate again.

9

Click **SUBMIT** to commit the changes in the config basket.

END OF STEPS -

## 8 Network configuration

### **Template-based configuration deployment**

### 8.1 What is device configuration in NSP?

### 8.1.1 NSP Infrastructure Configuration Management

Infrastructure Configuration Management (ICM) helps to define and deploy infrastructure configurations to an NSP managed network. With ICM, the network engineer can easily define reusable configuration templates covering such areas as card, port, QoS, security, and routing policy configurations. ICM is found in Device Management, in the Configuration pages, if Infrastructure Configuration Management is included in the deployment.

RESTCONF APIs are also available for ICM; see the API documentation on the Network Developer Portal.

#### **ICM** intent types

NSP uses intent types to build configuration templates, which are then used to build configurations.

The intent type defines the parameters that will be set when the configuration template is deployed. The configuration form can provide a parameter value or leave the value blank, to be set during deployment. If a parameter is not included in the configuration form, deploying the configuration template will not set that parameter on the target.

Users can create custom intent types in NSP or download predefined intent types from the Artifacts directory on the NSP software download site. Nokia recommends using predefined intent types where applicable.

Predefined intent types are delivered to the software download site outside the NSP release cycle. The intent types are delivered in zip files, which include a readme file for each intent type. See the ICM Intent Types Delivery notes document in the Artifacts directory for the list and descriptions of the intent types in the collection.

#### **Configuration templates**

Operators use the configuration templates to deploy the configurations to the network either in bulk or on an individual target basis (NE or card/port). ICM provides full feedback on the success (aligned) or failure (misaligned) of the deployment request, so that the operator is aware if the defined configuration is present and running in the network. The operator can audit and monitor for configuration drift that may occur over time and realign the network configuration back to the intended and defined configuration.

Templates can be defined with fixed or flexible attribute definitions. Certain attributes can be set with a fixed value (for example, MTU = 1500) that cannot be changed by the operator, or can be set with a default value that can be modified in the deployment phase.

### 8.2 How does configuration deployment work?

### 8.2.1 Creation of a configuration deployment

A configuration deployment is created when a template is deployed or associated to the network. The deployment object represents the application of a configuration template to a target in the network.

The deployment provides inputs to the template parameters as needed, and executes the configuration on a target in the network.

Some intent types can be deployed to multiple targets, or to a group. See the *NSP System Administrator Guide* for information about creating groups.

A template must be created before a deployment can be created.

The following table shows the Configuration Deployment parameters.

Parameter	Predefined values	Notes
Deployment Status	Not-Started	The deployment is created in ICM and is in a queue for deployment
	Saved	The configuration has been created and is waiting for a user to deploy it to the network.
	Aligning	An alignment operation is ongoing
	Auditing	An audit operation is ongoing
	Migrating	A migration operation is ongoing.
	Deployed Aligned	The deployment is completed and the network configuration matches the defined configuration.
	Deployed Misaligned	The deployment is completed and the network configuration does not match the defined configuration.
	Deployment Failed	<ul> <li>The deployment could not be completed.</li> <li>Deployments may fail for several reasons:</li> <li>Network Intents function is currently unavailable</li> <li>the required intent type is not found</li> <li>the Opensearch subsystem is down</li> <li>A function downstream of ICM is not responding</li> </ul>
	Association Failed	Associating a template to the network could not be completed.

Parameter	Predefined values	Notes
Configuration Status	Modified	The deployment includes user-configured parameters
	Default	All parameters are set by the template
NE Name	_	_
NE ID		_
ldentifier	_	For a physical deployment, the identifier is the network object that is configured by the deployment, for example, a port number. For a logical deployment, the identifier depends on the template, for example, LAG name and ID. The identifier is entered by the user at deployment creation.
Template		The configuration template in use
Role	Physical	The target is a physical object such as a port
	Logical	The target is a configured object such as QoS
Category	_	The type of physical or logical object being configured The category is defined in the configuration intent type.
Last Updated	_	The date and time of the most recent modification or operation performed.

### **Configuration process**

### 8.3 ICM process

#### 8.3.1 Purpose

This process describes the general steps of ICM. For complete configuration details, you may need to consult the *NSP Network Automation Guide*, or the tutorials on the Network Developer Portal.

#### Import or create intent types

1

Download the ICM intent type from the NSP software download site. Intent types are available in artifact bundles (zip files).

If you prefer to create your own intent types, proceed to Stage 3.

2

Import the downloaded artifact bundles into NSP; see "How do I install an artifact bundle?" in the *NSP Network Automation Guide*.

3

To create intent types, see the Network Intents tutorial on the Network Developer Portal for developer information.

Note the following:

- The InfrastructureConfiguration label must be present
- The intent type must include a resource file, icm\_descriptor.json, that provides the role:
   Physical (for example, port and card configuration) or
  - Logical (for example, QoS or routing)
    - For intent types with the logical role, this resource file also defines whether the template can be deployed to multiple targets in a deployment flow, and whether it can be deployed with other templates in a deployment flow.
  - The intent type must include at least one schema form and viewConfig resource file.
  - Other resource files may be required depending on the operations performed by the intent type.

#### Import the intent types

4

Open Device Management, Configuration Intent Types.

5

Click + IMPORT

#### 6 -

Choose the intent types from the list and click IMPORT.

#### Create a configuration template

7 Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

- 8 Click + TEMPLATE
- 9

Configure the parameters and click **RELEASE**.

#### **Deploy the configuration**

#### 10 —

- a. Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
- b. Click + DEPLOYMENT and choose Logical or Physical.
- c. From the **Configuration Templates** list, choose a template and click (More actions) **Deploy to Network**.

#### 11 -

Configure the parameters and click **DEPLOY**.

The configuration is sent to the targets, and the deployment details are added to the **Configuration Deployments** list.

#### Audit

#### 12 –

You can perform an audit at the deployment level for a single target, at the template level for all deployments using the template, or at the NE level for all configurations deployed to the NE.

An audit checks whether the target configuration matches the template, but does not change the target configuration.

Note: an audit at the template level checks all deployments using the template. The operation may take a long time. During the audit, you can click **VIEW DETAILS** for process information.

To audit a deployment:

- 1. Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
- 2. Choose a deployment.
- 3. Click (i) if needed to open the **Deployment Details** panel.

Click VIEW RESULT in the Deployment Details panel to see the results of the last audit.

4. Click AUDIT CONFIG. The audit results and alignment status information are updated.

#### **13** -

To audit a template:

- 1. Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.
- 2. Choose a template and click () if needed to open the **Template Details** panel.
  - The **Template Details** panel shows the number of deployments and the number that were aligned and misaligned after the last audit.
- 3. Click **AUDIT ALL CONFIG** and click **CONTINUE** to confirm. The alignment status information is updated.

14 —

To audit an NE:

- 1. Click **(**Audit/Align an NE). The Audit/Align an NE form opens.
- 2. Click in the **Select an NE** field. The Select an NE form opens with a list of NEs.
- 3. Choose an NE and click **SELECT**. The NE ID appears in the Audit/Align an NE form.
- 4. Click **AUDIT**. The **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** view is filtered to show the deployments for the NE with updated alignment status information.

#### Align

15

You can perform an align at the deployment, template, or NE level.

An align operation updates the target configuration if it does not match the configuration template.

To align a template:

- 1. Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.
- 2. Choose a template.
- 3. Click (i) if needed to open the **Template Details** panel.

The **Template Details** panel shows the number of deployments and the number that were aligned and misaligned after the last audit.

4. Click ALIGN ALL CONFIG and click CONTINUE to confirm.

#### 16 –

To align a deployment:

- 1. Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
- 2. Choose a deployment.

Click (i) if needed to open the **Deployment Details** panel.

The **Deployment Details** panel shows the results of the last audit.

3. Click **ALIGN CONFIG**. The alignment is performed and the alignment status information is updated.

#### 17 -

To align an NE:

- 1. Click (Audit/Align an NE). The Audit/Align an NE form opens.
- 2. Click in the **Select an NE** field. The Select an NE form opens with a list of NEs.
- 3. Choose an NE and click **SELECT**. The NE ID appears in the Audit/Align an NE form.
- 4. Click **ALIGN**. The **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** view is filtered to show the deployments for the NE with updated alignment status information.

### **Configuration intent types**

### 8.4 What is a configuration intent type?

#### 8.4.1 Overview

NSP uses intent types to build configuration templates, which are then used to build configurations. Users can create custom intent types or import predefined intent types into NSP. Nokia provided intent types are available from the Nokia software support download site. Nokia recommends using predefined intent types where applicable.

When an intent type is imported to NSP, it is available in **Network Intents**, **Intent Types**. To be used as a configuration intent type, the intent type must be imported to **Device Management**, **Configuration Intent Types**.

### i Note:

- The intent type must have the InfrastructureConfiguration label to be used as a configuration intent type.
- The first container name in the intent type YANG must be the same as the module name.
- View files for predefined intent types can be added or edited in the **Network Intents**, **Intent Types** view; see "How do I add or change a View file?" in the *NSP Network Automation Guide*. No other changes can be made to predefined intent types.

The configuration intent type includes one or more configuration forms, called views or schema forms in Network Intents. Configuration forms define the parameters that will be set when the configuration template is deployed. The configuration form can provide a parameter value or leave the value blank, to be set during deployment. If a parameter is not included in the configuration form, deploying the configuration template will not set that parameter on the target.

The use of multiple configuration forms allows one intent type to be used to create multiple configuration templates with different configuration parameters and different parameter values.

For example, an intent type called access port could include a default configuration form with ten blank parameters, and a simple configuration form with two parameters with set values. All configuration templates created from this intent type will configure access ports. However, you can create multiple templates, for example, one to set the two parameters to predefined values, and one or more to set the ten parameters to values of your choosing.

### 8.4.2 ICM descriptor resource file

The configuration intent type also includes a resource file, icm\_descriptor.json, that provides parameters for the configuration templates created from the intent type. For intent types with the logical role, this resource file also defines whether the template can be deployed to multiple targets in one deployment, and whether it can be deployed with other templates in one deployment.

Attribute	Mandatory	Default value	Available values	Description
category	Yes	_	Any string, such as Port, Card, or QoS	The category is used primarily for logical grouping of the templates created using the intent type.
role	Yes		physical logical	The physical role refers to physical configurations such as ports, while logical refers to logical configurations, such as QoS.
description	No	_	Any string	_
device-scope	Yes	_	mdm classic mdm-and-classic wavence third-party all	The device scope declares the device types the templates are intended for.
select-template <sup>1</sup>	No	multiple for logical role single for physical role	multiple single	This parameter declares whether the template can be deployed along with other templates in the same deployment.
select-target	No	multiple	multiple single	This parameter declares whether the user will be able to select single or multiple targets when the template is deployed.
target-xpath	No	<b>NEs</b> for logical role For physical role, the default varies based on category.	Any valid network inventory x-path	The x-path is used to fetch the list of targets during deployment creation.

The following table describes attributes that can be provided in the icm descriptor.json file.

Attribute	Mandatory	Default value	Available values	Description
targets	No	_	targets = [ {"NSP", "NSP"}]	The targets parameter allows a target to be provided that differs from the role defaults. For example, for NGE configuration, the target is NSP. The parameter is configured as a key-value pair.

#### Notes:

1. If the targets parameter is set in the descriptor file, the select-template parameter defaults to **single**.

See "What are the components of an intent type?" in the *NSP Network Automation Guide* for more information about configuring intent types, and the Intent Based Networking Framework and Input Forms tutorials on the Network Developer Portal for developer information, including use of resource files.

#### 8.4.3 Intent type configuration form

You can update an intent type to change one of the existing schema forms or add a new schema form. For details, see the viewConfig Forms tutorial on the Network Developer Portal.

If templates were created using the old schema form of the intent type, they will have a Config Form State of Outdated after the intent type is updated and re-imported. If a required schema form has been deleted in NSP, the Config Form State is updated to Detached. Audit or align operations on an outdated or detached template will be performed using the previous values.

The only available operations for a detached template are audit and align: no new deployments can be created, and deployments cannot be migrated to the template.

#### 8.4.4 Intent type details

Select an intent type and click ()(Intent Type Details) to view information about the intent type.

From the (Table row actions) menu, you can:

- Open the intent type in Network Intents to make any changes required
- Remove the intent type from the list of configuration intent types, if it is not in use by a template
- · Re-import the intent type from Network Intents

Changes to views are automatically imported.

Perform a re-import for any of the following.

- · To import changes made to an intent type other than changes to views
- · To import changes of any kind made outside NSP

### 8.4.5 Re-importing intent types

If a view or schema form in an intent type has been added, deleted, or edited in the **Network Intents**, **Intent Types** view, it is automatically updated in the Device Management configuration views.

If other changes have been made to the intent type, for example, a change to the YANG, the intent type is not automatically synched. You need to re-import the intent type to see the changes.



**Important!** The only changes that are automatically synched are changes made to the view files.

If a change has been made in Network Intents other than a change to a view, or if a change has been made to the intent type code or files outside NSP, for example, in a text editor, you must re-import the intent type to access the changes.

### 8.5 How do I import a configuration intent type?

### 8.5.1 Before you begin

Before you can import an intent type, the intent type must be present in the NSP with the InfrastructureConfiguration label. You can import a bundle of intent types into NSP; see "How do I install an artifact bundle?" in the NSP Network Automation Guide.

Intent types that have already been imported appear dimmed in the import form. To import changes to an intent type, perform a re-import from the **Table row actions** menu.



**Note:** The intent type must include an icm\_descriptor resource file. If the resource file is missing a mandatory attribute, the import fails with the error message "Invalid descriptor file. Missing *attributes*" where *attributes* is the list of mandatory attributes that are missing from the file. See 8.4.2 "ICM descriptor resource file" (p. 98) for information about the requirements for the descriptor file.

### 8.5.2 Steps

1

Open Device Management, Configuration Intent Types.

2 -

Click + IMPORT.

3

In the form that opens, choose the intent types and click **IMPORT**.

The list of intent types is updated.

**i** Note: The more schema form content an intent type has, the longer it takes to import.

END OF STEPS

### **Configuration templates**

### 8.6 What is a configuration template?

#### 8.6.1 Overview

A configuration template is a reusable set of parameter values that implements a configuration based on the associated intent type configuration form. The intent type and the configuration form must be created before the template can be created.

You can create a template for each configuration form in each intent type, or create templates for different use cases.

Templates can be fixed or flexible. A fixed template has preset or default values for all parameters. A flexible template includes parameters that can be changed by the operator at deployment time.

You can deploy a configuration template from the configuration templates list by clicking **\*** (Table row actions), **Deploy to Network**, or from the deployments list, see 8.20 "How do I create a logical configuration deployment?" (p. 115) and 8.20 "How do I create a logical configuration deployment?" (p. 115).

NSP supports up to 20 000 deployments per configuration template.

#### 8.6.2 Parameters

In NSP you can create configuration templates for physical configuration such as card or port configuration, or logical configuration such as QoS, LAGs, and routing policy configurations. Configuration templates are based on configuration intent types. The template inherits some properties defined in the intent type, and others are defined as part of template configuration.

Parameter	Predefined values	Notes
Name	_	_
Description	_	If no description has been configured, the Description column displays a dash. The Description column can only be filtered on configured contents.

The following table shows the Configuration Template parameters.

Parameter	Predefined values	Notes
Life Cycle	draft	The template can be edited but cannot be deployed to the network.
	released	The template is active. It can be used to deploy configuration to the network. The template cannot be edited or deleted. The status of the template cannot be changed to draft if it has been deployed.
	obsolete	The template is inactive and cannot be used to deploy new configurations to the network, but maintains existing configuration instances.
Intent Type	_	The configuration intent type the template is based on
Intent Type version	_	The version number of the intent type
Config Form	_	The intent type schema form the template is using. The intent type can have one or more schema forms: a template incorporates one form.
Config Form State	Up-to-date	The config form in use by the template matches the schema form in the intent type.
	Outdated	The config form in use by the template is no longer aligned with the intent type as a result of an intent type update. Operational actions, such as audits, will be performed against the previous version, not the updated version. The template can be cloned with the new values to create a copy of the template that incorporates the new schema form.
	Detached	The schema form used to create this template is deleted or otherwise unusable by the template. The template can still be audited or aligned, but it cannot be cloned, and new deployments cannot be created, including by migration.
	Processing	An update to the config form state is ongoing.
Role	Physical	The target is a physical object such as a port.
	Logical	The target is a configured object such as QoS.

Parameter	Predefined values	Notes
Category <sup>1</sup>	—	The type of physical or logical object being configured.
Device Scope <sup>1</sup>	SROS Model	The template is intended for model driven SR OS devices.
	SROS Classic	The template is intended for classically managed SR OS devices.
	SROS Classic and Model	The template can be used for both classic and model driven SR OS devices.
	Wavence	The template is intended for Wavence devices.
	Third Party	The template is intended for non-Nokia NEs.
	All	The template can be used for any device or management type.
Flexible	True	A flexible template includes parameters that can be changed by the operator at deployment time.
	False	If all parameters are read only and have default values, the Flexible parameter is set to False.
Last Updated	_	The date and time of the most recent modification or operation performed.

#### Notes:

1. This parameter is defined in the icm descriptor resource file in the configuration intent type.

#### 8.6.3 Template options

Select a template and click ()(Template Details) to view information about the template.

From the (Table row actions) menu, you can:

• View/Edit the template

If the template Life Cycle status is draft or obsolete, it can be opened for editing from the Table row actions menu. If it is in released status, a read-only View page can be opened.

- View the list of deployments using the template
- Migrate deployments to another template
- Deploy the template to the network
- Associate the template to the network
- Audit/Align deployments:
  - Audit all config
     Audit deployments for configuration drift that may occur over time
     Align config

Realign the network configuration back to the intended and defined configuration

- Align misaligned only
- Delete

Delete the template. Note: the template cannot be deleted if the Life Cycle status is released.

• Open in Network Intents Open the template intent type in Network Intents to make any changes required



**Attention:** Be cautious when invoking bulk actions at the ICM template level with many thousands of configuration instances as this may take many hours to complete.

### 8.6.4 Differences between classic NEs and model-driven NEs

If you are using Nokia predefined ICM intent types audits will behave differently between classic SR OS and MD SR OS NEs.

In the case of classic SR OS targets, only those attributes defined in the associated configuration form and with a user entered value will be audited. In the case of MD SR OS targets, all attributes in the target configuration tree are audited and attributes not even in the intent type YANG tree are checked.

For example, if the deployment has two targets:

- with classic SR OS NEs: the configured values of the user entered attributes on each target are checked to verify whether they match the configuration form. The alignment status is based on this check.
- with MD SR OS NEs: the values of all attributes on each target are checked to verify whether they match the configuration form and each other. The alignment status is based on matching both the configuration form and the other target.

Alignments also behave differently between classic NEs and MD NEs. For MD NEs, an alignment is marked misaligned if the NE is unreachable. For classic NEs, the alignment operation checks the configuration in the NFM-P database. If the database matches the deployment configuration, the status will be aligned, regardless of the NE's reachability.

# 8.7 What is the difference between deploying a template and associating a template?

#### 8.7.1 Mismatch handling

Both associating and deploying a template create a deployment of the template to the NSP network.

The difference between the two processes is in how they handle a mismatch between the template configuration and configuration already present on the target:

- If the template is deployed to the network, the deployment will apply the template values to the target.
- If the template is associated to the network, the deployment will not overwrite target values with template values.

- If the mismatched value is flexible in the template, the template value will be set to the value on the target.
- If the template has fixed attributes and the target attribute values do not match a fixed attribute, then the configuration instance will be declared misaligned.
- If the value is flexible in the template and not set on the target, the target will be updated with the template value.



**Attention:** For ICM to discover the target configuration when you associate the template, the target NE must be configured using MD-CLI.

If an attribute on the target NE was not configured using MD-CLI, it will be marked misaligned when the template is associated. In the Audit Result form, the Actual Value field will show the value as undefined.

### 8.8 How do I create a configuration template?

**i Important!** A configuration intent type must be imported before a template can be created.

#### 8.8.1 Steps

1	
	Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.
2	Click + CONFIGURATION TEMPLATE.
3	In the form that opens, enter a name for the template.  Note: Template names cannot start or end with a space, or contain special characters other than spaces, underscores, or hyphens.
4	Click <b>+ INTENT TYPE</b> and choose an intent type.
5	Choose a configuration form from the drop-down list.
•	Click <b>SAVE AS DRAFT</b> to create the template in draft state, or <b>RELEASE</b> to create the template in released state. The configuration template is added to the list.

END OF STEPS

#### 8.9 How do I update a template to apply intent type schema form changes?

#### 8.9.1 Purpose

Use this procedure if a schema form in the intent type used by a template has been changed, that is, the Config Form State is Outdated, and you need to use the updated config form. To do this, create a clone of the template with the updated schema form values.

### 8.9.2 Steps

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

2 -

1 -

Choose an outdated template and click [(Table row actions), Clone with updated config form.

3

In the form that opens, enter a name for the cloned template.

4

Click SAVE AS DRAFT to create the clone in draft state, or RELEASE to create the clone in released state.

The cloned template is created with a Config Form State of Up-to-date.

END OF STEPS -

#### What is migration? 8.10

### 8.10.1 Applying schema form changes to an existing deployment

If you have updated an intent type schema form, you can apply the updated intent type values to an existing deployment.

To do this, migrate the deployments from a template created with the old schema form, the source template, to a template created with the new schema form, the target template.

**i** Important! Migrating configuration deployments between templates is only available if the source and target templates meet the following criteria.

- the same Role and Category
- based on the same intent type with the same schema form
- the same target identifiers defined

The following is an example scenario.

- Template set\_mtu was created with intent type port\_config, using the viewConfig form gold ports.viewConfig
- Template set mtu was deployed to the network, configuring ports on NE1 and NE2.
- gold\_ports.viewConfig was updated, automatically updating the schema form and causing the config form state of the set mtu template to become outdated.
- Template set mtu was cloned to create set mtu2.

To apply the updates in the new version of gold\_ports.viewConfig to the ports on the NEs, migrate the deployments from template set\_mtu to template set\_mtu2.

After migration, NSP automatically aligns the deployments with the new template, pushing the new template configuration to the targets.

**i** Note: Deployments with a Deployment Status of Not-started, Saved, Auditing, Aligning, or Association Failed cannot be migrated. These deployments will not appear in the **Migrate Deployments** form.

#### 8.10.2 Modified attributes

When modifying the viewConfig file in Network Intents, you can make changes to some attributes. This includes adding and removing attributes, changing attribute values, and changing attributes from fixed to flexible or vice versa. Attributes can be modified if their values are entered into a field or selected from a dropdown. Table and list attributes cannot be modified during a migration. For example, in a QoS configuration template, the **Default FC** parameter can be changed, but a queue cannot be added.

Migration is not a service impacting operation. The migration operation deploys the new template to the existing configuration, merging the existing configuration and the new configuration. Note that values can be updated either due to changes in fixed values in the target template, or to changes made to flexible attributes when the migration is performed.

- If the source and target templates have the same attributes and only attribute values have changed, the new deployment has the updated attribute values.
- If the target template has added attributes, the new deployment has the target template values for all attributes, including the additional ones.
- If the target template has deleted attributes that appeared in the source template, the new deployment keeps the existing configuration value for the deleted attribute and applies the target template values for the attributes in the target template.

The following table shows an example. In this example, one attribute is changed, one is added, and one is deleted.

Existing deployment values configured by source template	Attribute values applied by migration	New deployment values
• MTU: 1500 • encaptype: qinq	<ul> <li>MTU: 1600</li> <li>administrative state: enabled</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>MTU: 1600</li> <li>encaptype: qinq</li> <li>administrative state: enabled</li> </ul>
## 8.11 How do I migrate a deployment to another template?

#### 8.11.1 Steps

Perform 8.9 "How do I update a template to apply intent type schema form changes?" (p. 107) to create a target template.

2 —

1

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

3

Choose the source template, click (Table row actions), **Migrate deployments** and click **CONTINUE** to confirm.

The **Migrate Deployments** form opens with the template already selected.

4

Select the target template:

- 1. Click **+ TEMPLATE**
- 2. Choose the new template from the templates list and click ADD.

Click **View configuration** if needed for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters.

3. If you have chosen a flexible template, .click **View/Edit Template Config** to verify or update template parameters, and click **UPDATE**.

Select the deployments to migrate:

- 1. Click + DEPLOYMENTS
- 2. Choose one or more deployments from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shiftclick to choose a range of deployments.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin.

If Select all deployments is clicked, the deployment list and Bin cannot be rendered.

- 4. Click ADD.
- 6 –

#### Click MIGRATE .

The template field in the **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** list is updated. You can align the network configuration to apply the configuration changes to the targets.

END OF STEPS

<sup>5</sup> 

## 8.12 How do I deploy or associate a template to the network?

### 8.12.1 Procedures differ for physical and logical templates

You can deploy a template from the **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** view or from the **Device Management**, **Configuration Templates** view. You can only associate a template from the **Device Management**, **Configuration Templates** view.

The steps vary depending on the role. See the following:

- 8.20 "How do I create a logical configuration deployment?" (p. 115)
- 8.21 "How do I create a physical configuration deployment?" (p. 116)
- 8.13 "How do I associate a logical template to the network?" (p. 109)
- 8.14 "How do I associate a physical template to the network? " (p. 111)

## 8.13 How do I associate a logical template to the network?

### 8.13.1 Purpose

Associating a template to the network creates a deployment. Template parameters that are already configured on the target are preserved.

To create a logical template deployment where the template parameters will overwrite target configuration, see 8.20 "How do I create a logical configuration deployment?" (p. 115)

### 8.13.2 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

2 –

Choose a logical template and click **‡** (Table row actions), **Associate to network**.

The **Associate Template** form opens with the template already selected.

3

Add one or more targets:

- 1. Click **+ TARGET** and choose **NEs** from the drop-down list.
- 2. Choose one or more targets from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of targets.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin and click **ADD**.
- 4. To add additional targets, repeat the previous steps and click UPDATE.
- 4

If needed, click the **VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG** button for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters. If any configuration in a fixed template conflicts with the configuration in the target, the deployment will be misaligned.

NSP

5 Identifier fields appear in the form for each selected template. Enter information in each field.
6 Click ASSOCIATE to apply the configuration to the targets.

END OF STEPS -

## 8.14 How do I associate a physical template to the network?

#### 8.14.1 Purpose

Associating a template to the network creates a deployment. Template parameters that are already configured on the target are preserved.

To create a physical template deployment where the template parameters will overwrite target configuration, see 8.21 "How do I create a physical configuration deployment?" (p. 116)

#### 8.14.2 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

2 —

Choose a physical template and click (Table row actions), **Associate to network**.

The Associate Template form opens with the template already selected.

3 \_\_\_\_\_

Add one or more targets:

- 1. Click **+ TARGET** and choose **Ports**.
- 2. Choose one or more targets from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of targets.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin and click ADD.
- 4. To add additional targets, repeat the previous steps and click **UPDATE**.

**Note:** All targets must be the same type: you can't deploy to ports and groups in the same deployment.

4

If needed, click the **VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG** button for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters. If any configuration in a fixed template conflicts with the configuration in the target, the deployment will be misaligned.

5 —

NSP

### Click **ASSOCIATE** to apply the configuration to the targets.

END OF STEPS -

### 8.15 How do I retry a failed association?

#### 8.15.1 Steps

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments

2 —

1 -

Filter the list if needed: in the **Deployment Status** drop-down list, choose **Association Failed**.

3 —

Choose one or more deployments with the Association Failed status. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of deployments.

4

Retry the association:

a. To retry a single association:

- From the **‡** (Table row actions) menu, choose **Retry association**.
- From the **Deployment Details** panel, click **RETRY ASSOCIATION**.

b. To retry multiple associations, click **ORetry** above the details panel. The retry operation proceeds.

END OF STEPS -

### 8.16 How do I change the life cycle status of a template?

#### 8.16.1 Steps

1 -

A template can be in draft, released, or obsolete status.

To change the status of the template, choose the status from the drop-down list in the **Life Cycle** column and click **CONTINUE** to confirm.

END OF STEPS -

### 8.17 How do I edit a template?

**i** Note: If you need to apply changes from an updated config form, see 8.9 "How do I update a template to apply intent type schema form changes?" (p. 107)

#### 8.17.1 Steps

1	
'	Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.
2	
	Choose a template in draft status.
3	
	Choose (Table row actions), View/Edit.
4	
-	Configure the parameters and click <b>UPDATE</b> .

 $\mathbf{E}_{ND}$  of steps

### 8.18 How do I audit or align configurations?

#### 8.18.1 Purpose

Use this procedure to audit or align all the deployments based on a specified template. To audit or align configuration for a single deployment, see 8.30 "How do I audit or align a deployment?" (p. 125). To audit or align all the deployments on an NE, see 8.31 "How do I audit or align configurations for an NE?" (p. 126).

#### 8.18.2 Steps

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates view, choose a template.

2 –

Click (i) if needed to open the Template Details panel.

The **Template Details** panel shows the number of deployments and the number that were aligned and misaligned after the last audit.

3

In the Template Details panel, click VIEW ALL.

The system displays a list of the deployments based on the template.

Choose a deployment to view deployment details as needed.

<sup>1 -</sup>

#### 4 —

To audit configurations:

- From Device Management, Configuration Templates, choose a template. Choose
   (Table row actions), Audit/Align deployments > Audit all config.
- 2. Click **CONTINUE** to confirm. The alignment status information is updated.
- **i** Note: An audit at the template level checks all deployments using the template. The operation may take a long time. During the audit, you can you can check the Template Details panel for process information.
- **i** Note: If you are using Nokia predefined ICM intent types audits will behave differently between classic SROs and MD SROS NEs.

In the case of classic SROS targets, only those attributes defined in the associated configuration form and with a user entered value will be audited. In the case of MD SROS targets, all attributes in the target configuration tree are audited and so attributes not even in the intent type YANG tree are checked.

5

To align configurations:

- From Device Management, Configuration Templates, choose a template. Choose

   (Table row actions), Audit/Align deployments > Align config.
- 2. By default, only misaligned deployments are aligned. Choose **Align all deployments regardless of alignment status** if needed. Note that aligning all deployments may take much longer than aligning only misaligned deployments.
- 3. Click ALIGN to confirm.

**i** Note: An alignment at the template level updates all misaligned deployments using the template. The operation may take a long time. During the operation, you can check the Template Details panel for process information.

END OF STEPS

### 8.19 How do I create a deployment?

#### 8.19.1 Procedures differ for physical and logical deployments

A deployment is created by deploying or associating a template to the network.

You can deploy a template from the **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** view or from the **Device Management**, **Configuration Templates** view. You can only associate a template from the **Device Management**, **Configuration Templates** view.

The steps vary depending on the role. See the following:

- 8.20 "How do I create a logical configuration deployment?" (p. 115)
- 8.21 "How do I create a physical configuration deployment?" (p. 116)

### 8.20 How do I create a logical configuration deployment?

**Important!** A configuration template of the required role must be created before a deployment can be created.

### 8.20.1 Steps

1

Open the Deploy Logical Configuration form:

- a. Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
- b. Click + CONFIGURATION DEPLOYMENT and choose Logical from the drop-down list.

c.

1. From **Device Management**, **Configuration Templates**, choose a logical template and click (Table row actions), **Deploy to network**.

The form opens with the template already selected.

2 —

Add one or more templates if required:

- 1. In the **Deploy Logical Configuration** form, click **+ TEMPLATE**
- 2. Choose one or more templates from the templates list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of templates.
- 3. Verify the list of templates in the Bin and click **ADD**.
- 3 –

Add one or more targets:

1. Click + TARGET and choose NEs or Predefined Groups from the drop-down list.

- 2. Choose one or more targets from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of targets.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin and click ADD.
- 4. To add additional targets, repeat the previous steps and click UPDATE.
- 5. Verify that the list of targets is correct. Repeat this sequence to change the list if needed.



| i | Note: All targets must be the same type, that is, you can't deploy to NEs and Predefined Groups in the same deployment.

Δ

If the template is flexible, the **VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG** button is available.

1. Click VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG to open the View/Edit Template Config form.

- 2. Choose a template and click Edit Configuration.
- 3. In the form that opens, configure the template parameters.
- 4. Click UPDATE if you made changes, or click CANCEL to close the Edit Configuration form.
- 5. Update additional template configurations as needed.
- 6. Click SAVE if you made changes, or click CANCEL to close the View/Edit Template Config form.

If the template is fixed, click the VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG button for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters.

5

Identifier fields appear in the form for each selected template. Enter information in each field.

Attention: Your input can't contain the hash symbol (#).

6

Complete the creation of the deployment:

- a. Click **SAVE** to add the deployment to the list in Saved status, but not apply the configuration to the targets.
- b. Click **DEPLOY** to apply the configuration to the targets.

END OF STEPS

i

#### How do I create a physical configuration deployment? 8.21

Important! A configuration template of the required role must be created before a deployment can be created.

NSP

### 8.21.1 Steps

1

Open the Deploy Physical Configuration form:

- a. Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
- b. Click + CONFIGURATION DEPLOYMENT and choose Physical from the drop-down list.
- c.
  - 1. From **Device Management**, **Configuration Templates**, choose a physical template and click **(**Table row actions), **Deploy to network**.

The form opens with the template already selected.

2

In the Deploy Physical Configuration form, add or change the template as needed:

- 1. To add a template, click **+ TEMPLATE**..
- 2. Select a template and click ADD.
- 3. To use a different template, click **REPLACE**, select the new template and click **ADD**.
- 3 -

Add one or more targets:

- 1. Click + TARGET and choose Ports or Predefined Groups from the drop-down list.
- 2. Choose one or more targets from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of targets.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin and click ADD.
- 4. To add additional targets, repeat the previous steps and click UPDATE.
- 5. Verify that the list of targets is correct. Repeat this sequence to change the list if needed.

**i** Note: All targets must be the same type, that is, you can't deploy to Ports and Predefined Groups in the same deployment.

4

If the template is flexible, the VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG button is available.

- 1. Click VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG to open the View/Edit Template Config form.
- 2. Choose a template and click Edit Configuration.
- 3. In the form that opens, configure the template parameters.
- 4. Click **UPDATE** if you made changes, or click **CANCEL** to close the **Edit Configuration** form.
- 5. Update additional template configurations as needed.
- 6. Click **SAVE** if you made changes, or click **CANCEL** to close the **View/Edit Template Config** form.

If the template is fixed, click the VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG button for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters.

5

Complete the creation of the deployment:

- a. Click **SAVE** to add the deployment to the list in Saved status, but not apply the configuration to the targets.
- b. Click **DEPLOY** to apply the configuration to the targets.

END OF STEPS

#### 8.22 How do I edit a deployment?

#### 8.22.1 Purpose

You can edit a deployment to change the template or parameters and deploy again to the same target. A deployment can only be edited if its deployment status is saved, deployed aligned, or deployed misaligned.



**I** Note: You can use this procedure to make changes to a single deployment. To change multiple deployments based on the same template to another template, see 8.11 "How do I migrate a deployment to another template?" (p. 109). To edit parameters for multiple deployments based on the same flexible template; see 8.23 "How do I bulk edit multiple deployments?" (p. 119).

#### 8.22.2 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.

2 —

Choose a deployment.

Click (i) if needed to open the **Deployment Details** panel.

3 -

Click (Table row actions), **View/Edit**.

4

The form that opens depends on the role:

- a. In the **Deploy Physical Configuration** form, click **REPLACE** to change the template, and **EDIT CONFIGURATION** to change the parameters.
- b. In the Deploy Logical Configuration form, click VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG to change the parameters.

5 —

Click **DEPLOY**.

END OF STEPS

## 8.23 How do I bulk edit multiple deployments?

#### 8.23.1 Purpose

You can edit up to ten deployments at one time. The following criteria must be met:

- The deployments must be from the same template.
- The template must be flexible.
- All deployments must have a compatible deployment status: saved, deployed aligned, or deployed misaligned.

### 8.23.2 Adding values to lists or tables

Some parameters, such as queues and forwarding classes in a QoS template, appear in list or table format in a configuration form. Existing table parameters can't be displayed in the edit form, however, you can add them in the edit form.

Added values can be handled in the following ways:

- Do Nothing: ignore all added table or list parameters and keep the existing values.
- Append All: keep the existing values in the deployments and add the values that were added during editing.

If a value is added that already existed on a deployment, the new value will overwrite the old.

• Replace All: replace the entire table on all deployments with the table of values added during editing. If no values are added, the tables are empty after the edit.

#### Example

Deployment 1 has no queues and no forwarding classes.

Deployment 2 has:

- one queue: Queue ID 5, Queue Type expedited, Queue Mode priority
- one forwarding class: FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 5

The deployments are edited. The edit operation includes adding the following:

- no queues
- forwarding classes:
  - FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 2
  - FC Name af, Profile none, Queue 2

The following table shows the results of the edit based on the chosen handling of added values.

Handling option	Deployment 1	Deployment 2
Do Nothing	No queues, no forwarding classes	<ul> <li>one queue: Queue ID 5, Queue Type expedited, Queue Mode priority</li> <li>one forwarding class: FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 5</li> </ul>
Append All	<ul> <li>no queues</li> <li>forwarding classes:</li> <li>FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 2</li> <li>FC Name af, Profile none, Queue 2</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>one queue: Queue ID 5, Queue Type expedited, Queue Mode priority</li> <li>forwarding classes: FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 2 FC Name af, Profile none, Queue 2</li> </ul>
Replace All	<ul> <li>no queues</li> <li>forwarding classes:</li> <li>FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 2</li> <li>FC Name af, Profile none, Queue 2</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>no queues</li> <li>forwarding classes:</li> <li>FC Name be, Profile in, Queue 2</li> <li>FC Name af, Profile none, Queue 2</li> </ul>

#### Table 8-1 Results of bulk edit based on handling of added table values

#### 8.23.3 Steps

1 -

View a list of deployments from the same template:

a. Open **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** and filter the list by template name.

b.

- 1. Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.
- 2. Click on a template and choose (Table row actions), View all deployments.

The view displays a list of deployments from the template.

2 —

Select up to ten deployments.

3

From the header at the top of the view, choose **‡** (More), **Edit**.

An edit form opens, showing the template parameters. If a field parameter has the same value for all selected deployments, the value is shown in the form.

4

Update the parameters and click **CONTINUE**.

NSP

	5
	In the confirmation form that opens, select the way you want to handle added values and click <b>UPDATE</b> .
	End of steps
8.24	How do I deploy a saved deployment?
8.24.1	Steps
	1
	Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
	2 Filter the list if needed: in the <b>Deployment Status</b> drop-down list, choose <b>Saved</b> .
	3 Choose one or more deployments with the Saved status. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of deployments.
	4
	a. For a single deployment:
	• From the (Table row actions) menu, choose <b>Deploy</b> .
	From the <b>Deployment Details</b> panel, click <b>DEPLOY</b> .
	<ul> <li>b. To retry multiple deployments, click <b>Deploy</b> at the top of the page.</li> <li>The deployment proceeds.</li> </ul>
	End of steps
8.25	How do I retry a failed deployment?
8.25.1	Steps

1 ------

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.

2 —

Filter the list if needed: in the Deployment Status drop-down list, choose Deployment Failed.

#### 3 —

4

Choose one or more deployments with the Deployment Failed status. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of deployments.

- Retry the deployment:
- a. To retry a single deployment:
  - From the **t** (Table row actions) menu, choose **Retry deployment**.
  - From the **Deployment Details** panel, click **RETRY DEPLOYMENT**.
- b. To retry multiple deployments, click **ORetry selected deployments** above the details panel.

The retry operation proceeds.

END OF STEPS -

### 8.26 How do I distribute a logical configuration deployment?

#### 8.26.1 Steps

- 1 Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.
- 2 \_\_\_\_\_

Choose a logical deployment and click (Table row actions), **Distribute**.

The form opens with the template already selected and an identifier already assigned.

3

Add one or more targets:

- 1. Click + TARGET and choose NEs or Predefined Groups from the drop-down list.
- 2. Choose one or more targets from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of targets.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin and click ADD.
- 4. To add additional targets, repeat the previous steps and click UPDATE.

**i** Note: All targets must be the same type, that is, you can't deploy to NEs and Predefined Groups in the same deployment.

4

If the template is flexible, the **VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG** button is available.

- 1. Click VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG to open the View/Edit Template Config form.
- 2. Choose a template and click Edit Configuration.

- 3. In the form that opens, configure the template parameters.
- 4. Click **UPDATE** if you made changes, or click **CANCEL** to close the **Edit Configuration** form.
- 5. Update additional template configurations as needed.
- 6. Click **SAVE** if you made changes, or click **CANCEL** to close the **View/Edit Template Config** form.

If the template is fixed, click the **VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG** button for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters.

5

Complete the creation of the new deployment:

- a. Click **SAVE** to add the deployment to the list in Saved status, but not apply the configuration to the targets.
- b. Click **DEPLOY** to apply the configuration to the targets.

END OF STEPS -

### 8.27 How do I distribute a physical configuration deployment?

#### 8.27.1 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.

2 -

Choose a physical deployment and click (Table row actions), **Distribute**. The form opens with the template already selected.

3 –

In the **Deploy Physical Configuration** form, change the template as needed: Click **REPLACE**, select the new template and click **ADD**.

**4** ·

Add one or more targets:

- 1. Click **+ TARGET** and choose **Ports** or **Predefined Groups** from the drop-down list.
- 2. Choose one or more targets from the list to add them to the Bin. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of targets.
- 3. Verify the list of targets in the Bin and click ADD.
- 4. To add additional targets, repeat the previous steps and click UPDATE.

**i** Note: All targets must be the same type, that is, you can't deploy to Ports and Predefined Groups in the same deployment.

5

If the template is flexible, the VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG button is available.

- 1. Click VIEW/EDIT TEMPLATE CONFIG to open the View/Edit Template Config form.
- 2. Choose a template and click Edit Configuration.
- 3. In the form that opens, configure the template parameters.
- 4. Click **UPDATE** if you made changes, or click **CANCEL** to close the **Edit Configuration** form.
- 5. Update additional template configurations as needed.
- 6. Click **SAVE** if you made changes, or click **CANCEL** to close the **View/Edit Template Config** form.

If the template is fixed, click the **VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG** button for a read-only preview of the configuration parameters.

6 —

Complete the creation of the new deployment:

- a. Click **SAVE** to add the deployment to the list in Saved status, but not apply the configuration to the targets.
- b. Click **DEPLOY** to apply the configuration to the targets.

END OF STEPS

### 8.28 How do I delete a deployment?

#### 8.28.1 Steps

- Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments..
- 2 -

1 -

Choose one or more deployments. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of deployments.

- 3
  - a. To delete a single deployment, from the **t** (Table row actions) menu, choose **Delete**.
  - b. To delete multiple deployments, click **Delete** at the top of the page.
- 4

In the form that opens, choose how you want to delete the configuration:

- From NSP and Network: remove the configuration from the targets and remove the deployment from the **Configuration Deployments** list.
- From NSP: remove the deployment from the **Configuration Deployments** list without making any changes to the targets.
- Undeploy to Saved status: remove the configuration from the targets. Keep the deployment in the **Configuration Deployments** list in Saved status.

**i** Note: Failed associations can only be deleted from NSP. Other deletion options are dimmed.

Deletion of a failed deployment from the network may fail. If this happens, consider deleting from NSP only.

END OF STEPS -

### 8.29 How do I remove a deployment?

#### 8.29.1 Purpose

Use this procedure to remove values that were configured by a deployment.

For example, if the MTU value on a port is set to 1600, then is changed to 1700 by a deployment, removing the deployment will result in no MTU value on the port.

#### 8.29.2 Steps

1 \_\_\_\_\_

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.

2 —

Choose one or more deployments. You can use Shift-click to choose a range of deployments.

- 3
  - a. To undeploy a single deployment, from the **t** (Table row actions) menu, choose **Undeploy to Saved status**.
  - b. To undeploy multiple deployments, click **Undeploy to Saved status** at the top of the page.

The configuration is removed from the targets. The deployment status is changed to Saved.

END OF STEPS

### 8.30 How do I audit or align a deployment?

**i** Note: If you are using Nokia predefined ICM intent types audits will behave differently between classic SR OS and MD SROS NEs.

In the case of classic SR OS targets, only those attributes defined in the associated configuration form and with a user entered value will be audited. In the case of MD SROS targets, all attributes in the target configuration tree are audited and attributes not even in the intent type YANG tree are checked.

For example, if the deployment has two targets:

- with classic SR OS NEs: the configured values of the user entered attributes on each target are checked to verify whether they match the configuration form. The alignment status is based on this check.
- with MD SR OS NEs: the values of all attributes on the each target are checked to verify whether they match the configuration form and each other. The alignment status is based on matching both the configuration form and the other target.

#### 8.30.1 Steps

1

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.

2 —

Choose a deployment. Click () if needed to open the **Deployment Details** panel.

Click VIEW RESULT in the Deployment Details panel to see the results of the last audit.

3 —

Choose an action:

a. Click AUDIT. The audit results and alignment status information are updated.

b. Click ALIGN. The alignment is performed and the alignment status information is updated.

END OF STEPS -

## 8.31 How do I audit or align configurations for an NE?

#### 8.31.1 Steps

1 -

Open Device Management, Configuration Deployments.

- 2 Click ■(Audit/Align an NE). The Audit/Align an NE form opens.
- 3 —

Click in the Select an NE field. The Select an NE form opens with a list of NEs.

NSP

4 —

Choose an NE and click **SELECT**. The NE ID appears in the Audit/Align an NE form.

5 —

Choose an action:

a. Click AUDIT. The audit results and alignment status information are updated.

b. Click **ALIGN**. The alignment is performed and the alignment status information is updated.

The **Device Management**, **Configuration Deployments** view is filtered to show the deployments for the NE with updated alignment status information.

END OF STEPS -

NSP

# **Part IV: Device management use cases**

### **Overview**

#### Purpose

Describes use cases for Device Management functions.

#### Contents

Chapter 9, Use cases 131

# 9 Use cases

## 9.1 Discovery of a 7750 SR device in NSP

### 9.1.1 Purpose

This use case shows how to use NSP to discover a model-driven 7750 SR. Click on a figure to enlarge it.

### 9.1.2 Steps

1 —

The first step is creating a unified discovery rule.

- 1. Open Device Discovery, Unified Discovery Rules.
- 2. Click + UNIFIED DISCOVERY RULE.

E NOCIA Network Services Platform User: admin	?
Device Discovery Rules   Unified Discovery Rule  + UNIFIED DISCOVERY RULE + UNIFIED DISCOVERY RULE	E C
Rule Name Admin State Network Scan Interval (minutes) Associated Classic Rule	: ()^
T T T	[=]
	Ę
	80

First, we'll configure the general settings for the discovery rule. Enter a name for the rule and a scan interval. This rule will scan the network every 90 minutes to look for devices and device updates.

NOCIA Network Se	rvices Platform			User; admin
Create Unified Discovery Rule				
General	General			
Discovery Protocols and Policies	Rule Name	Description	Network Scan Interval (minutes)	
Select Protocols	sros_discovery		90	2 Enter a scan interval. This rule will scan the network every 90 minutes to look for devices.
Associate Classic Discovery Rule	Admin State	1 Enter a name for the rule		
Discovery IP Ranges	Up .	• Cx		
	Discovery Protocols and Policie	25		
		AN ALMAN AND A MARK		

2 -

To configure Discovery Protocols and Policies, we'll choose the order of the protocols to use for discovery, and create and associate the required mediation and reachability policies. In this example, we don't need the gRPC protocol for discovery, but we'll include it for telemetry communication after the NE is managed.

	vices Platform						User: admin	• ⑦
Create Unified Discovery Rule								×
General Discovery Protocols and Policies Select Protocols Select Mediation Policies	Discovery Protocols and F Define protocols and policies for NS Select Protocols	Policies P mediation to disc	over and manage devices.					
Selec Read-ability Policies Associate Classic Discovery Rule Discovery IP Ranges	First Discovery Protocol* NETCONF Fourth Discovery Protocol GRPC	• •	Second Discovery Protocol	* CX	Third Discovery Protocol	• 5	1 Choose the order of the protocols to use for discovery.	

3

Now we will create mediation policies for the protocols we'll need to use to discover and manage the NE, and associate them with the discovery rule.

These steps need to be done for each mediation protocol we selected. We'll use NETCONF as an example.

1. Click in the NETCONF field in the Select Mediation Policies panel to open the Select

NETCONF policy form.

NO <ia network="" ser<="" th=""><th>vices Platform</th><th>User: admin 🔹 📀</th></ia>	vices Platform	User: admin 🔹 📀
Create Unified Discovery Rule		×
Create Unified Discovery Rule Enternal Discovery Protocols and Policies Select Protocols Select Reschaftly Protos Assocher Class: Discovery Rule Discovery IP Ranges	Discovery Protocols and Policies Define protocols and policies for NPP mediation to discover and manage devices. Select Protocols Tric Discovery Protocols NETCONF Prunch Discovery Protocol Select Mediation Po select Mediation	2
	< < Page: 1 /↑ > >	
	Select Reachability PNN* CANCEL SELECT	
	500 <del>0</del>	
		CANCEL CREATE

2. Click + NEW to open the Create Mediation Policy form in a new browser tab.

NOKIA Network S	Services Platform			User: admin
reate Mediation Policy				
eneral	General			
ETCONF Network Communication Profile User	Classic Mediation	Policy Type NETCONF	Policy Name*     SrNetconfMediationPolicy	1 Choose the communication type and enter a name for the policy
	Description	Use For Discovery		
	NETCONF			
	Network Communication Profile			
	Communication Profile Name*	Port*	Connection Timeaut (seconds)*	2 Specify the connection requirements
	NetconfProtocolViaRest	830	45	
	Read Timeout (seconds)*	Description		
	line		ł.	
	admin			
			3 Enter the user credentials	
	Pacowerd"	Description		
	Password*	Description		
	Password*	Description		
	Pssourd*	Description	Å	4 Click C

3. When the policy is created, return to the previous browser tab and click refresh (



**C**) in the select form. Click the policy you created and click **SELECT**.

Repeat this step with the other mediation policies.

4

The last part of the protocol and policy setting is creating the reachability policies.

We'll follow a similar process: creating the policies we need and associating each with the discovery rule. This time we'll use Ping as an example.

- 1. Click in the PING field in the Select Reachability Policies panel to open the Select PING policy form.
- 2. Click + NEW in the Select PING policy form to open the Create Reachability Policy form

#### in a new browser tab.

NO <ia network="" serv<="" th=""><th>vices Platform</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>User: admin</th></ia>	vices Platform							User: admin
Device Discovery Reachability Polic	iles 👻							+ REACHABILITY POLI
Policy Name	Classic Policy ID	Classic Reachability	Reachability Type	Timeout	Interval (minutes)	Interval (seconds)	Admir 🚦	1nfo
	т		- T	- T		τ.		Select policy to see the details
srReachability	-	No	snmp	5	5	-	Up :	Î
srPing	-	No	ping	5	30	-	Up :	
maryamPing	-			20	20		Dow :	
DemoReachabilityClassic	24	Create Reachability Policy				×	- :	
NFMP Policy 2	2	Classic Reachability					- :	
policy66	66	Policy Name"	Descriptio	n			- :	
N/A	4	Reachability Tona"	1 Choose the comm	nication type the N	P should use to ch	eck on the NE	- :	
N/A	6	Ping	- Cx				- :	
N/A	7	Timeout (seconds)*	isterval (r	inutes)			- :	
N/A	8	30	30	-	2 Specify interval	and timeout details	- :	
N/A	9	Admin State*					- :	
test-auto-check	11	Up	- Lx				- :	
classic-test	12					3 Click CREATE	- :	
classic-reachability-policy-PING	15				C/	CREATE	- :	
classic-reachability-policy-SNMP	16	Yes	ping	3	30	30	- :	
Policy-20	20	Yes	ping	6	33	3		
Default Policy	1	Yes	ping	3	2	5	- /	,
CPolicy-22	22	Yes	ping.	6	2	2	- :	
chi-test-classic	1111	Yes	ping	30	2	0		
	400	v		20	-	~		

3. When the policy is created, return to the previous browser tab and click refresh ( **C**) in the select form. Click the policy you created and click **SELECT**.

	Discovery Proto	cols and Policie	IS				
Iscovery Protocols and Policies Seatch Veceois Select Mediator Policies Seatch Seatchilly Policies Associate Classic Otocovery Aile Iscovery IP Ranges	Select Mediation Pol swar shaneyMediationRe witcow? srifecon/Mediation Select Reachability F	Select PING Name srRng	Interval	Timeout 5 1 Select the policy	Admin-state	+ NEW C X Reschability-type ping	
	Associate Classic Di Classic Discovery Rule Discovery IP Rar	۲ مربع	0			2 Chek SELECT CANCEL SELECT	

Repeat this step with other reachability policies.

NSP

5

To use this unified discovery rule to discover classic devices, we need to associate a classic discovery rule. This discovery rule will be for model-driven devices only, so we can skip this field.

6

Next, we'll add an IP range or subnet for discovery. The device we want to discover must be in this range.

When the discovery rule performs a network scan in the future, it will search the IP range. Click + ADD in the Included IP Addresses area.

NOKIA Network Ser	vices Platform			User: admin	• (
Create Unified Discovery Rule					1
General	Discovery IP Ran	ges			
Select Protocols	Define IPs to discover a	nd manage both model driven and classic devices.			
Select Reachability Policies	Included IP Addresses		1 Click ADD + ADD		
Associate Classic Discovery Rule	IP Address	Mask Bits			
Discovery IP Ranges					
		No data to display			
		< < Page: 0 /0 > >	Total: 0		
	Excluded IP Addresses		+ ADD		
	IP Address	Mask Bits			
				CANCEL	CREATE

In the form that opens, enter the IP address and mask bits, and click ADD.

NOCIA Network Servic	ces Platform		User: admin
eate Unified Discovery Rule > C	Create Included IP Addresses		
Address* 198.51.100.20	Mask Bits*	1 Enter an IP address and mask to specify an IP range or subnet.	
		The rule will scan the range to look for devices.	
			2 C
			CANCEL
			CANCEL

7 -

After you click **CREATE**, the discovery rule appears in the list. Choose Discover from the Table row actions menu to run the discovery rule manually.

■ NO <ia network="" p="" service<=""></ia>	s Platform					User: admin 🗸	0
Device Discovery Unified Discovery Ru	iles 👻					+ UNIFIED DISCOVERY RULE	G
Rule Name	Admin State	Network Scan Interval (minutes)		Associated Classic Rule		1	(i) *
	т т		т		T.		[≡]
srNetconfDiscoveryRule	Up 👻	5		-		1	艮
							P.
End o	F STEPS -						

#### Result

When the NE is discovered, the NE appears in the **Device Management**, **Managed Network Elements** view.

■ NOKIA Network Services Pla	atform							User	admin		• ⑦
Device Management Managed Network Eler	ments -										Q
NE Name	Reachability	NE Mode	Management IP	NE ID	Product	Chassis	÷	0	Q	D,	E
T	- T	•		т	τ			Select an NE	to see the de	tails	*
SR-G	Reachable	MDM	198.51.100.20	16.16.16.16	7750 SR	7750 SR-12	:				

The NE has been discovered.

### 9.2 NFM-P and NSP comparison: Port Configuration

#### 9.2.1 Before you begin

This use case shows how to use Infrastructure Configuration Management in NSP to configure ports in preparation for LAG and MC-LAG creation.

Click on a figure to enlarge it.

#### **NFM-P** method

For comparison, here are the steps we would have performed in the NFM-P to configure the ports.

- 1. On the equipment tree, expand Network $\rightarrow NE \rightarrow$ Shelf $\rightarrow$ Card Slot  $n \rightarrow$ Daughter Card Slot  $n \rightarrow$ Port n/n/n.
- 2. Right-click on the Port icon and choose Properties. The Physical Port (Edit) form opens.
- 3. Update the parameters as required and click Apply.
- 4. Save your changes and close the form.

This procedure needs to be performed for each port you need to configure, on each NE that will be part of the LAG or MC-LAG.

#### Infrastructure Configuration Management method

You can configure all the ports in one operation by deploying a configuration template.

In this example, the configuration template **Ready\_Access\_Ports\_4\_LAG** has been created using the predefined icm-equipment-port-access intent type; see 8.5 "How do I import a configuration intent type?" (p. 101) and 8.8 "How do I create a configuration template?" (p. 106).

Use this procedure to use this template to configure the ports.

#### 9.2.2 Steps

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

2 —

1 -

Select **Ready\_Access\_Ports\_4\_LAG** from the list of configuration templates and click (Table row actions), **Deploy to Network**.

lerve Mangement Carily	autor Seculari															+ TOMPLET	1
	Bassiption		Life Cycle		Select Type	Intent Type Territor		Cardy from	· Card	g Pariet States	here :	Calegory	Barche Singe	Paulite	Land Updated		1
		. *		+			٣			1			(e)			- mind success	
and the second second	-		mound		An initial policitations of the		1	default	2	10-10-020	ingent	hinter	\$405 Church & Huger	ini -	964 10,2023 3,0828 pm		1
da, Anness, Parka, K.J.ME	1		- straid		the equation part offered.		E.	and a	~	14-14-14	Pend	141	SPOS Gines & Probal	399	No. 10, 2022 No. 17 (19 pr.)		T
ww.(0x5			manual				8	dian.	4		Lupial -	94	1405 Denis & Mudel	74	No. 10, 2013 5 (08, 29 per	We at spreaters.	
4,Pirts	1		where	141	the spipeers part otherset		8	-	2		Presid	Part .	1901 Daniel & Photo?	144	New YOL STATE STRATE OF	Mgride deployments.	
114,015	*		(where the				1	anut.	$\mathbf{v}$	10-10-040	Logist	0.0	SPOS Duries & Holler	396	Nov 15, 2523 3 (8) 27 pm	Autorige Ballion and	
995).	5		shout	*	on other submer		1	and.	2	to to date	lagist	Sever	*	764	Nov. 14, 2022 17, 2024 pm	Deploy to refusely, Associate to refusely, Van.,	
																Adda.	
																Case in Second Street	1

3

In the form that opens, click + **TARGET** and choose Ports.

4

Filter on the port numbers to find the ports you want to configure, and click **ADD** to add them to the list of targets.

									×	
NE Name	NE ID	Port (Identifier)		💼 Bin (4 ports)				EM	YTY	RE
	Υ Υ	1/1/31 × T		NE Name		NE ID		Port (Identifi		
cardiff	32.32.32.32	Port 1/1/31			Ŧ		Ŧ			
risca	42.42.42.42	Port 1/1/31		praxus		30.30.30.30		Port 1/1/30		
xkeys	21.21.21.21	Port 1/1/31		kronos		1.1.1.1		Port 1/1/30		
machen	41.41.41.41	Port 1/1/31		praxus		30.30.30.30		Port 1/1/31	-	
newport	22.22.22.22	Port 1/1/31		kronos		1111		Port 1/1/31	-	
romulus	5.5.55	Port 1/1/31		KUIU3				TOTCH 1991	-	+
praxus	30.30.30.30	Port 1/1/31							- 1	LATE
Afon	31,31,31,31	Port 1/1/31							- 1	
kronos	1.1.1.1	Port 1/1/31								
IXR-2	192.168.180.36	1/1/31								
vulcan	50.50.50.50	1/1/31								
remus-cpma	20.20.20.20	1/1/31								
betazed	60.60.60.60	1/1/31								
	Ϊ¢	< Page: 1 /1 > >1	Count : 15							
							CAN	CEL AD		
	NE Name Cardiff Cardiff risca xkeys machen newport romulus praxus Afon Kkronos IXR-2 vulcan remus-cpma betazed	NE Name         NE ID           T         T         T           cardiff         32.32.32.32         T           risca         42.42.42.42         T           keys         21.21.21.21         T           machen         41.41.41.41         T           newport         22.22.22.22         T           romulus         5.55.55         T           praxus         30.30.30.30         T           Afon         31.31.31         T           IXR-2         192.168.180.46         T           vulcan         50.50.50         T           betazed         60.60.60.60         T	NE Name:         NE ID         Port (Identifier)           T         1/1/31         X         T           cardiff         32.32.32.32         Port 1/1/31         X           risce         42.42.42.42         Port 1/1/31         X           kkeys         21.21.21.21         Port 1/1/31         X           machen         41.41.41.41         Port 1/1/31         X           newport         22.22.22.22         Port 1/1/31         X           proxus         30.30.30.30         Port 1/1/31         X           Afon         31.31.31         Port 1/1/31         X           IXR-2         192.168.180.36         1/1/31         X           Vukan         50.50.50.50         1/1/31         X           betazed         60.60.60.60         1/1/31         X	NE Name         NE ID         Port (Identifier)           Cardiff         32.32.32.32         Port 1/1/31           risca         42.42.42.42         Port 1/1/31           risca         42.42.42.42         Port 1/1/31           risca         21.21.21.21         Port 1/1/31           nachen         41.41.41.41         Port 1/1/31           newport         22.22.22.22         Port 1/1/31           romulus         5.5.5.5         Port 1/1/31           romulus         30.30.30.0         Port 1/1/31           Afon         31.31.31.31         Port 1/1/31           IKR-2         192.168.180.36         1/1/31           IKR-2         192.168.180.36         1/1/31           remus-cpma         20.20.20.20         1/1/31           betazed         60.66.06.0         1/1/31	NE Name:       NE ID       Port Identifier)       Image:	NE Name         NE ID         Port Bidentifier)         Image: Description of the second of	NE Name         NE ID         Port (identified)         Image: I	NE Name       NE ID       Port (Identifier)       Image: Cardiff       S2,32,32,32       Port 1/1/31         Cardiff       32,32,32,32       Port 1/1/31       NE Name       NE ID         risca       42,42,42,42       Port 1/1/31       Prit N//31       Prit N//31         Manchen       41,41,41,41       Port 1/1/31       Prit N//31       Prit N//31         newport       22,22,22,22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Prit N//31         nomulus       55,55,55       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Prit N//31         nomulus       30,30,30,30       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Kronos       1,1,1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Kronos       1,1/1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Kronos       1,1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31 <t< td=""><td>NE Name       NE D       Port Identifieri       Bit (4 ports)       Bit (4 ports)       Port (dentifieri         Cardiff       3.23.23.23       Port 1/1/31       N       NE Name       NE D       Port (dentifieri         Gardiff       3.23.23.23       Port 1/1/31       NE Name       NE D       Port (dentifieri         risca       4.24.24.24       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Mashen       4.14.14.14       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       22.22.22.22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       22.22.22.22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       22.22.22.22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       3.03.03.03       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Afon       3.13.13.1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         NE Name       1.10.1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         NE Name       1.10.1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         NE Name       1.10.1       Port 1/1/31</td><td>NE Name         NE D         Port Oldentified         Image: Control of Control of</td></t<>	NE Name       NE D       Port Identifieri       Bit (4 ports)       Bit (4 ports)       Port (dentifieri         Cardiff       3.23.23.23       Port 1/1/31       N       NE Name       NE D       Port (dentifieri         Gardiff       3.23.23.23       Port 1/1/31       NE Name       NE D       Port (dentifieri         risca       4.24.24.24       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Mashen       4.14.14.14       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       22.22.22.22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       22.22.22.22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       22.22.22.22       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         newport       3.03.03.03       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         Afon       3.13.13.1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         NE Name       1.10.1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         NE Name       1.10.1       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31       Port 1/1/31         NE Name       1.10.1       Port 1/1/31	NE Name         NE D         Port Oldentified         Image: Control of

5

Click **DEPLOY** to send the configuration to all the ports you selected.

Deploy Physical Configuration						×
Select Template.*	Select Template					REPLACE
Select Target and Edit Template *	Template Name Ready_Access_Ports_4_LAG Category Port		Templa Device SROS	ite Description Scope Classic & Model	Role Physical Flexible False	
	Select Target and Edit	t Template				CLEAR ALL + TARGET
	Select targets. Template co	nfigurations ca	n be edi figuratior	ted after targets are selected. as can't be edited View		VIEW TEMPLATE CONFIG
	NE Name	NE ID	Ŧ	Port (Identifier)		
	praxus	30.30.30.30		Port 1/1/30		Ű.
	kronos	1.1.1.1		Port 1/1/30		
	praxus	30.30.30.30		Port 1/1/31		
	kronos	1444		Port 1/1/31		
						Count : 4
						CANCEL SAVE DISPLOY

END OF STEPS

### 9.3 NFM-P and NSP comparison: QoS

#### 9.3.1 Before you begin

This use case shows how to use Infrastructure Configuration Management in NSP to discover an existing QoS policy from a device and synchronize it to other NEs in the network..

Click on a figure to enlarge it.

#### **NFM-P** method

For comparison, here are the steps we would have performed in the NFM-P to distribute the policy to multiple NEs.

- 1. Create the policy on the NE using CLI.
- 2. Choose Policies→QoS→SROS QoS→Access Egress→SAP Access Egress from the NFM-P main menu.
- 3. Click Search and select the new policy.
- 4. Double-click on the policy to open the Edit form.

The new policy is a local policy, in Draft configuration mode.

- 5. Click More Actions, Synchronize.
- 6. Choose the NE to which the policy is to be synchronized from the Available Local Policies list and click on the right-arrow. The chosen NE moves to the Selected Source Local Policy panel of the form.
- 7. Click Synchronize. The new local policy definition is synchronized with the global policy.
- 8. From the Edit form, click Switch Mode to release the policy and distribute it to other NEs.
- 9. Select the NEs for distribution in the Available Object panel and click on the right-arrow button.
- 10. Click Distribute.

The policy is now available on the selected NEs.

#### Infrastructure Configuration Management method

You can discover, release and distribute the new policy to classic or model driven NEs by deploying a configuration template.

In this example, the QoS policy has been created on the node using CLI.

The configuration template **SAP Egress Policy** has been created using the predefined icm-qossapegress-srqos intent type; see 8.5 "How do I import a configuration intent type?" (p. 101) and 8.8 "How do I create a configuration template?" (p. 106).

To use this template to discover and distribute the new policy:

For this scenario, we will associate the template to the network. Associating the template ensures that no existing QoS policy values on the NE will be overwritten with template values.

### 9.3.2 Steps

#### 1 -

Select **SAP Egress Policy** from the list of configuration templates and click (Table row actions), **Associate to Network**.

siceHangement Earlight	option Templotes																	+ 10491,011	
- r	Security .		silvore		Andrews Transv	Second Paper Persons		Config Form		Card	g ferm State	Refe		Cologery	Deriva beauw	Paulie	A part inputional		r i
7		7					.7		. 1				4				water a province of the	A DESCRIPTION OF	
	-		returned	1.4	unitate proposition -		х.	Adult .		1	0.0.04	light .		Roder	1905 Gauss & Muriel		Here \$12,2227 1,070 did gen		t.
figner failer			rebund				1	-		3	Same in	Ingent		get .	1995 Canada & Product	- 100	May 74, 207 1043 34 av.		i.
Advant, Berta, Adda	i al l		retered	14	ich agaigeant gart athanan		8	Adult .		4	Quita shine	Hund I		Pari	SROK Classic & Produi	100	No. 16, 2023, 10 of 25 are	View of Highlymanic.	
tes, fed	-		Inherest -	1.0			E.	Adult .		$\sim$	Spinister.	ingin		Orth 1	1001 Classes & Photol	100	No. 10, 2122 LOID 11, 107	Wests Subsystems	
Own.	1 m 1		released		in experiences		χ.			4	Up to det	Peter		Part	19825 Circuit & Privat	-	No. 10.2573 10875 per	Autority designation	1
10,0ef	123		-		the second second second		8	default.		4	10-10-048	laging		Gell.	3825 Georg & Hydel	24	No. 10, 2523 Link 37 per	Depho to naturali	
tained.	: #C		island .	. 4	internation contactors		1	default.		4	-	taged 1		Service	.44	100	No. 14, 3323 11, 59, 34, pt.	dessantation for comparation	

2 –

In the form that opens, click + **TARGET** and choose NEs.

3 —

Choose the NE where the new policy is added and click **ADD**.

Sele	ect NEs															×	
plate	NE Name		NE ID		Manageme	ent IP	Product					🛱 Bin (1 NE)				EMPTY	
getan		т		٣		T		т				NF Name		NEID			
entifier 🗆	vN7750-104		63.130.123.10	14	172.20.14	9.104	7750 SR						Ŧ		Ŧ		
	romulus		5.5.5.55		172.20.14	9.129	7750 SR					kronos		1.1.1.1			
	remus-cpma		20.20.20.20		172.20.14	9.180	7750 SR										1
	praxus		30.30.30.30		172.20.14	9.181	7750 SR										
	kronos		1.1.1.1		172.20.14	9.128	7750 SR										•
	SR-14s		92.168.96.244		135.249.2	10.34	7750 SR										1
	MEO		172.25.100.56		135.86.18	6.167	7750 SR										
	IXR227		fded:fade:face	:ff	135.249.2	20.120	7250 IXR										PLATE
	IXR-2		192.168.180.3	16	172.20.14	9.36	7250 IXR										
	IXR-1		192.168.180.3	15	172.20.14	9.35	7250 IXR										
					19		Page: 1	$1 \rightarrow - >1$			Count : 10						
															CANCEL	ADD	
	_	-	1.54	PEgress	Policy :	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	_	_		

4

Select the existing policy name and ID for the NE and click ASSOCIATE.

iact Toropiaton "	Called Translates	
and Designs and Sold Stationers' Designs 1	average semiporter	
protectifies for January Inseptyte *	Strapiste Neme Recordstan Role Citigary David Loge Haidel	
	T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	
	taking and the second and the second and the	
		Cont.
	Select Targets and Edit Selected Template	CLEAR ALL + 340
	Safert hoppes.	I WERE TRAVELATE (DA
	P Provide Section 1 and an a first section description and they called only the call ground in the section and the result of section 2. Sec.	
	a contract of the second second	
	No. 131	
	908 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	
	Gen11 (1.1.5 ME1.1.2 PML)#	
	See 19	
	Nec(b)(1)	
	We(0)	
	Tau .	
	Suit as the table by the corresponding deployments. If partner below is disated, select pagets first to enable them,	
	and the second s	
	Kanad	

5

The template has now been deployed. Double-click on the template to see the deployment in the list of deployments for the template.

billioperent forme Configurent Control Wilson Wilson Control Control<	inflangement >	Saf Larris Pales									
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Depityment Nature	Configuration Voltage	NO. Name	96.02	Marriel Part	Entropy	Gast Signature			4	Orgingment Details
* Bolger Mignel       * Market       News       \$10.1 Model (2011)       Not (2011) Not (201		•				1 .	- i i series er r	+	a		NE Party
• Bundbard       • Bundbard       • Bundbard       • Listed       • Bundbard	Deplement Migned	# Hulfed	- brand -	0.00	Res, Oxf10F10	84	1. No. 14, 2021 10:46-22 pro			r	No.
industry       industry <th< td=""><td>Dation Manual</td><td>* Hutfad</td><td>and a</td><td>14210</td><td>New GellTorth</td><td>Set.</td><td>No. 14, 2023 10:48-68 am</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>13.11</td></th<>	Dation Manual	* Hutfad	and a	14210	New GellTorth	Set.	No. 14, 2023 10:48-68 am				13.11
Specification Mageed       Weeked       yearses       SEXER.000       Specification Mageed       S	Dayloant Kigroot	# Huilfad		26363636	New, Gelfriers	0-0	Ten 14, 2021 10 +8 50 am			1	sector.
• Deployeed lighted     • Browned     0.0.0.1.0.1.0.1.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0	Dephasi Algori	in Husback	press.	10.01.01.00	New Geltistik	their contracts of the second	No. 18, 2023 10:48,51 am			2	Server, Der S. 73.
Spelwork (model)       Market (model)       Same (model)	Deployed Algored	· Hudfad	baries .	133.9	Bratsaffi	Dell.	No. 16, 2023 10:49-12 am			1	DAT Spress Public III
Implementation       Implementation         Implementation       Implementa	Daptool Algored	· Hutfad	Arrest.	1.0.0.0	164487	54	No. 15, 2023 10:46,52 am			1	
Holtaf											Basker Stepart     Autor     Au

NSP

NSP

6

Choose the deployment and click (Table row actions), Distribute.

Marcal Income	Carlinearen Tenanne	lane.										
Deployment Distan	Configurati 4	e tistas	WE Rame	NC D	τ	tantha .	τ.	Canagers	Last Updated		)	Deployment Details
<ul> <li>Departed Report</li> <li>Departed Report</li> <li>Departed Report</li> <li>Departed Report</li> <li>Departed Report</li> <li>Departed Report</li> </ul>	a Stabled a Stabled a Stabled a Stabled a Stabled		inne sunia sunia prov keen koosi	11.1.1 22.5.22 22.2.22.22 22.2.2.22 22.2.2.2 2.2.2.2 2.2.2.2		nee, (of ter) nee		965. 066 066 066 066	No. 14, 2023 (3) 44 (2) and No. 14, 2023 (3) 43 (4) and No. 14, 2023 (3) 44 (2) and No. 14, 2023 (3) 44 (2) and		FreeBills. Angle Royalts. Roya	M MM Storm Storm Storm Storm Storm Store Sto
	Company and strength	1										

7 –

In the Deploy Logical Configuration form that opens, click **+ TARGET** and choose NEs. All compatible managed NEs appear in the list, regardless of management type.

8 —

Select the NEs you want to distribute the policy to and click ADD.
Deploy Logical	Config	guration										×
Select Template	Sele	ct NEs									$\times$	
		NE Name	NE ID	Management IP	Product		Bin (2 NEs)				EMPTY	
Select Target an		τ.	T	т	т		ME Name		NEID			
Assign Identifier		vN7750-104	63.130.123.104	172.20.149.104	7750 SR		inc name	Ŧ	inc to	*		
		romulus	5.5.5.55	172.20.149.129	7750 SR			4	20.20.20.20	- A		
	~	remus-cpma	20.20.20.20	172.20.149.180	7750 SR		praxus		30.30.30.30			1000
	~	praxus	30.30.30.30	172.20.149.181	7750 SR		remus-cpma		20.20.20.20			
		kronos	1.1.1.1	172.20.149.128	7750 SR							Count : 1
		SR-14s	92.168.96.244	135.249.210.34	7750 SR							I TINCET
		MEO	172.25.100.56	135.86.186.167	7750 SR							- IARUEI
		IXR227	fded:fade:face:ff	135.249.220.120	7250 IXR							PLATE CONFIG
		IXR-2	192.168.180.36	172.20.149.36	7250 IXR							
		IXR-1	192.168.180.35	172.20.149.35	7250 IXR							
				IC C	Page: 1 /1 > >	Count : 10						
										CANCEL	ADD	
	-	_	1. SAP Egress	Policy :		-	_	-	_	_		
										CA14		

Click **DEPLOY**.

9

Deploy Logical Configuration				×
Select Template *	Select Template			
Select Target and Edit Template *			Coun	K:1
Assign Identifier *	Select Target and Edit Selected Template	CLEA	R ALL + TA	RGET
	Select targets. Template configurations can be edited after targets are selected.	VIEW/ED	DIT TEMPLATE CO	ONFIG
	Configurations required by the selected templates are assigned. View/Edt			
	Reachability NE Name NE ID Management IP Product			
	T T T T T T T			
	• Up praxus 30.30.30.30 172.20.149.181 7750 SR			ÎÎ.
	• Up remus-cpma 20.20.20.20 172.20.149.180 7750 SR			Î
			Court	ıt : 2
	Assign Identifier for Selected Template			
	Assign unique identifiers for templates selected above to identify the corresponding deployments. If content below is disabled, select target first to enable them.			
	1.SAP Egress Policy:			
	50 Egres Mice Sam* 50 Egres Mice 20* 80. DoS 51 51			
			_	
		CANCEL	SAVE D	SOLON.

END OF STEPS

# 9.4 NFM-P and NSP comparison: LAG Configuration

# 9.4.1 Before you begin

This use case shows how to use Infrastructure Configuration Management in NSP to create a LAG.

Click on a figure to enlarge it.

### **NFM-P** method

For comparison, here are the steps we would have performed in the NFM-P to create a LAG.

- 1. Prepare the ports:
  - a. On the equipment tree, expand Network→*NE*→Shelf→Card Slot *n*→Daughter Card Slot *n*→Port *n/n/n*.
  - b. Multi-select the required ports, right-click and choose Properties. The Physical Port (Multiple Instances) (Edit) form opens.
  - c. Update the parameters as required and click Apply.
  - d. Save your changes and close the form.
- 2. On the equipment tree, expand Network $\rightarrow NE \rightarrow$ Logical Groups $\rightarrow$ LAGs.
- 3. Right-click on LAGs and choose Create LAG.
- 4. Proceed through the wizard, configuring parameters as required, and click Finish.

### Infrastructure Configuration Management method

You can configure all the ports in one operation by deploying a configuration template. Deploy another template to create the LAG.

In this example, the following configuration templates have been created; see 8.5 "How do I import a configuration intent type?" (p. 101)and 8.8 "How do I create a configuration template?" (p. 106).

- · Gold\_Ports , which uses the predefined icm-equipment-port-ethernet intent type
- Gold-LAGs , which uses the predefined icm-logical-lag-access intent type

# 9.4.2 Steps

# Configure the ports

1

Open Device Management, Configuration Templates.

2

Select **Gold\_Ports** from the list of configuration templates and click (Table row actions), **Deploy to Network**.

88	NOCLA	Network Services Hatform

larter	Benrigtion		Life Cycle		Soland Type	Intent Type Version		Config Form		Last	g Farm State		Role	6	pelloch,	Device Scope	Plan	ble	Lint L
.7		τ.		*	7		7		· <b>T</b>			+				•		14	100
uld Ports	240		interest	-	km-equipment part attemat		2	guitt		4	Up to date		Physical		e .	BRDS Classic & Model	Ma		Alley T
gress, forth	1997 - 19		released		sum das entreditarie states		2	default		4	Up-tu-data		Lightal	Ge	6	SRDS Classic & Model	764	Ves sl t	legituments.
pres, Qali	-		related		ta de reddan oan		2	default		4	Up-to-date		Lignal	Ge	6	SRDS Classic & Model	764	Migrate d	lepkylopista .
Latannand,			released		icm nume policystatement or		2	default		4	Up-tu-date		Lignal		der 1	SRDS Classic & Model	764	Auditriti	pr deployments
ahanar	21		reliand		ice-service-cultoner		2	default.		4	Up-tu-state		Lightal	54	uice .	A8	184	Deplicy 1	interiorit
udy Access, Parts_4	-21		released		icm equipment part ethemet		2	default		4	Up-tu-date		Physical	P2		SRDS Classic & Model	784	Aussciate View.	to network
OF Egrees Policy			<i>island</i>		Arm-que expegnérie ergosi		2	default.		4	Up-tu-date		Lightal	Ge	6	SRDS Elaxiet & Model	184	Same .	

3 \_\_\_\_\_

In the form that opens, click + **TARGET** and choose Ports.

**4** ·

Filter on the NE name and port numbers to find the ports you want to configure, and click **ADD** to add them to the list of targets.

- COLL	Servers Ser	and Parlies												-		3 0
rative Physical Co	-															- 18
inst thesplate *				Select Templa	te .											-
and Segret as	elect Parts															
	the Name		96.0	Part Education				1	( Bo R partie						Derti I	
			1112.4	T. 1/1	- 1 K				NE Name	- 3	÷	Part D	and and		1000	
0	arease .		1.1.1.1	Pert MATE								4.5		<b>T</b> .		
0	Arrested.		1.4.4.9	Paul Science					Trans.		1.1.1	Part 1	1.8			
0	-		0.1.1.1	Part MANTE					Arrest .		111	Red S	nin .			and the second se
0	1000		1111	Fort 3(5/11)												+ 100001
	-		2.8.8.8	Part 1/1/18												Section 2
	Arrest		43.5.4	Part 3/5/3												
	-		14.4.4	Part 1/1/9												
5	-		45.53	Part UUS												
2	() i hand i		.400.00	Part VOUP												
	-		9.8.8.9	Perf V/UR												
	Training of the local division of the local		0.9.9.0	Part 1/1/5												
0	- branne		4444	Part 1/UND												
0	- house		10.00	Part V/VI												
					10.004	e 100 100		Sec. 41								
														CANCEL	400	
1.1	_	_								-	-	_	_	_		8
														COM	n)	( MARKEN

5 –

This template is flexible: you can click **View/Edit Template Config** to verify the configuration and update it if needed.

Output Decempentation       Control to the control to th							
Sold Etherse Fact       Fit         Sold Etherse Fact       Respirate         Sold Etherse Fact       Respit	Deploy Physic	cal Configuration					×
Sete: Trapper       Pri       Port       Mainis faisi:       Baselyfeisi:       # 2000000000000000000000000000000000000		Gold Ethernet Ports				×	
Select Tagent     Benefit     B	Select Template	Port					REPLACE
Anseigning       Exception       HTL         Introd       Introd       Introd         Introd       Introd       Introd         Introd       Introd       Introd	Select Target an	Ethernet	Port Admin State enable Ethernet	Description Ready for LAGs			
			Autonegotiate	Encap Type	мти		
			limited 👻	qinq	1500		
			notApplicable				+ TARGET
Limited			true false				PLATE CONFIG
CANCEL SAVE DEPLOY			Immed			CANCEL UPDATE	E Court: 2
						CANCEL SAVE	DEPLOY

Click **UPDATE** to close the View form, and **DEPLOY** to send the configuration to the ports.

# **Configure the LAG**

6 -

Select **Gold-LAGs** from the list of configuration templates and click (Table row actions), **Deploy to Network**.

Denie Hangemant	Liefger	ut Sengtana	+															+ TENPLAT	**	0
Name 1.	(here)	riss	Side Carter		Interit Tape	Interest Taxae Version		Confighters		6.	ing form block		Refer	Compre	Barries Scope	Permit	Lost Alphotest		1	C
	7	1.1	1	- 42	1.4		Ŧ.		7			÷.					 and a second second	a set i submissi		
Line	1.00		(interest.	- 82	tori service sufficient		1	anut.		R	10.00		Segue	Service	*	104	Nov14,3522113525.pe		38	
Agress, Geli			released				÷.,	adust.		÷	The Property lies		Sugar	64	URDE Classic & Market	744	Nec 19, 2023 1:00:57 pm		1	
Sale Late	15		- eniment -	+1	an high of high states		4	privat.		6	- Igina dana		logia	100	1917) David & Wester	-	Mar. 16, 2023 1017 21 at		1	
Seld, Parts	1.46.3		remained	<b>8</b> 3	ini apprent part effected		1	-		2	10-10-044		Physical	Part	SEUG Channe & Warked	944	Here \$1, 2523 \$ 200 at pre-	Vita al diployments,		
Pgress, Gell	1.00		*******	•3	rai din relativa scine			adust.		1	10-10-0.00		topur	0.6	SHOT Classes & Mudel	744	Nov. 10, 2023 5-00-09 per-	Ngale deptyments.		
Said, Scini, Perc, 4.	1.40		stimut		An equipment part effected		1	advut.		4	10-1-40		Press	hut	1801 Owner & Worlan	Test.	Mar. 18, 2023 10 AV.2A pri	Automp. automotor	-	
SAF Spreak Pality	1-			•5			ŧ.	Aufault.		v	14 hours		Logical	0.0	SADE Claim & Mudel	÷	Nov 74, 2023 10:43 37 am	Digity to tetastic.		
Datasiant	5.00		relevant	*)	ton make polyplatement to		1	alut		2	The head of the		logist	Paulor	MOS Classic & Nurbel	35	Hec 10, 2013 3:00 04 pm	Resolute to technolity		

148

8

NSP

The template only accepts one target. Click + TARGET and choose NEs.
 Select the NE in the form that opens.

Click **View/Edit Template Config** to view and set the LAG parameters. In the form that opens, select the template and click **Edit Configuration**.

		lemplate Name		Description		Role	Category		Device Scope	Flexible		
	т		T		٣	•		•	•		*	
vaiting user input		Gold-LAGs		N/A		Logical	LAG		SROS Classic & Model	True		
												Edit

9

Configure the LAG parameters as needed.

Gold-LAGs								×
LAG	LAG							
Port Threshold	Description	Admin State		Max Ports		Encap Type		
Per Link Hash	test	enable	•	32	-	Select Item	•	
Weighted	Mode	Port Type		LACP Xmit Interval		null		
	access	▼ Select Item	•	Select Item	•	dot1q		
	1400					qinq		
	LACP							
	Enable LACP	Node Select Item		Administrative Key				
		derect terri						
	System Id	System Priority						
	Port Threshold							
	Value	Action						
		Select Item	•					
	Per Link Hash							
	Enable Per Link Hash							
	Weighted							
	Enable Weighted	Auto Rebalance						
							CANCEL	UPDATE

10 -

Click + ADD to add the ports you configured with the previous template.

Deploy Logical Configuration > View/Edit Template Config		×
Gold-LAGs		×
LAG Configu LACP Port Threshold Per Link hash Weighted	Port Threshold Value Action Select Item  Per Link Hash  The back Action	
	Port Id Priority Sub Group Hash Weight	Court :1 CANCEL UPDATE
		CANCEL SAVE

11 -

In the form that opens, select a port and click SELECT.

Deploy Logica	I Configuration > View/Edit Tem	plate Config	3					×
Below are t	Gold-LAGs > Create Port							×
Configu	Portid*	0	Priority	Sub Group		Hash Weight		
			Salash David Id X				×	
🕷 Awaiti			Select Port la				^	/
			Port ID	Description	Encapsulation Type	Mode		
			1/1/7	Ready for LAGs	qinq	access		
			1/1/8	Ready for LAGs	qinq	access		
			1/1/11	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access		
			1/1/14	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access		
			1/1/15	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access		
			1/1/19	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access		
			1/2/1	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access		
			1/2/2	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access		
			1/2/10	Gold/Fixed schema-form	qinq	access	•	
					< Page: 1 /1 >	×I		

**12** —

Configure port parameters as needed and click **ADD**.

Deploy Logical	Configuration > View/Edit	Template Conf	ig					×
Below are t	Gold-LAGs > Create Port						×	
Configu	Port Id* 1/1/8	× Ø	Priority	Sub Group	Hash Weight			
• Awaiti								/
								Count : 1
						CANCEL	ADD	
							CANCEL	SAVE

13 —

Repeat the steps to add the other port and click **UPDATE**. Click **SAVE** to exit the View/Edit form.

14 \_\_\_\_\_

Enter a name and ID for the LAG and click **DEPLOY**.

IN ROCLA Rework Services Platform		Steer advise - 🕐
Deploy Logical Configuration		
Extent Sumplicies *	Select Templates	
Select Segars and Edit Selected Tempine 7	Sangken Name Description Note Galagery Devis Legar Plandle	
Anager transition for Salarman Receptors."		
	late of a ingener of international team	1
		lass 1
	Select Targets and Edit Selected Template	
	Surfact Surgers. Template configurations can be writed after targets are selected.	VALUE AND A STREET, AND A ST
	6 Findgesten reprod to the which tampton an angeod. Institut.	
	Chily 1 target are be activated for the second army we	
	Read-addy M. Barn M. D. Hangareet P. Product	
	•10 been 1111 15115 2200	
		100 C
	Assign Identifier for Selected Template	
	Ansign unique identifiers for temptates selected above to cherefy the corresponding dephysion is. If content balancies is disabled, solect targets first to under them.	
	1 familiaria	
	Laborary Laborary	
	34/1 II	

#### $\mathbf{E}_{ND}$ of steps

#### Result

Double click on **Gold-LAGs** in the template list to see the deployments and show the newly created LAG.

=	NOGA SHI	riyih Ser	woen Platfierm						liter allerie	2	0
Deline Nangement 1 Carls John Tagen										0	1
	Deployment Vision		Configuration United	HE Roose	HED	Munifier	Calagory	Last Sprinted		1	0
		20			7.	1 T	<b>T</b>	the sector of th			
۵	• Instand Algorit		• Holifad	(respective)	4451	162-10410	646	Nam 16, 2023 11 dt a1 an		1	